
Wyoming Business Council
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING

wyomingbusiness.org   .   twitter.com/wyobizcouncil   .   facebook.com/wyobizcouncil

May 7, 2020  .  Online, Wyoming



Increasing
WYOMING'S

Prosperity



3Agenda   -  May 2020

Board of Directors Agenda 
Thursday, May 7, 2020
By Zoom Webinar

THURSDAY, MAY 7
By Zoom Webinar
(Times and order of agenda are tentative and subject to change without notice)

Dress code is business attire

Join the webinar at: https://zoom.us/j/295704768 

8:00 a.m. Convene Public Meeting – Co-chair Mike Easley 

•	 Pledge of Allegiance 

•	 Roll call of Board Members 

• ACTION ITEM: Consideration of approval of May 2020 Consent Agenda items: 

•	 Minutes from March 2020 Regular Meeting at Greybull – (Page 5) 

•	 Minutes from April 7, 2020 Special Meeting by Webinar – (Page 10) 

•	 Minutes from April 28, 2020 Special Meeting by Webinar – (Page 12) 

•	 Quarterly Personnel Report (PBA Committee) – (Section C, page 4) 

•	 Updates to WBC Policy Manual Chapter 1 – (Section C, page 7) 

8:15 a.m. CEO Report – Chief Executive Officer Josh Dorrell 

•	 COVID-19 Business & Finance Task Force Response Update 

•	 Stakeholder and Partner Outreach Efforts 

•	 Economic Recovery Plan Preview 

9:00 a.m. Broadband Advisory Council Update – Broadband Manager Ryan Kudera 

• ACTION ITEM: Consideration of Broadband Advisory Council recommendations 

9:15 a.m. Business Contract and Loan Standing Committee – Chairman Jason Kintzler (Section A) 

•	 Quarterly Challenge Loan Report – Economic Development Finance Manager Josh 
Keefe 

• ACTION ITEM: Consideration of acceptance of quarterly Challenge Loan report 

•	 Annual Challenge Loan Reports – Economic Development Finance Manager Josh Keefe 

• ACTION ITEM:  Consideration of acceptance of annual Challenge Loan Report 

•	 Annual SBIC Report – Economic Development Finance Manager Josh Keefe 

• ACTION ITEM:  Consideration of acceptance of annual SBIC Report 

•	 Contract with University of Wyoming for FY21 Business Resource Network funding – 
Chief Strategy Officer Sarah Fitz-Gerald, Strategic Partnerships Director Ron Gullberg, 
Business Development Director Brandon Marshall 

• ACTION ITEM: Consideration of acceptance of staff recommendations 

•	 Amendment to Contract with Advance Commercial Provider, LTD of Taiwan for the 
continued operation of the Taiwan Asia-Pacific Trade Office in Taipei through FY2022 
– Business Development Director Brandon Marshall 

• ACTION ITEM: Consideration of acceptance of staff recommendations 



Agenda   -  May 20204

10:00 a.m. Morning Break 

10:15 a.m. Community Grant and Loan Standing Committee – Chairwoman Erin Moore (Section B) 

•	 Update on Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Imminent Threat grants to 
Town of Mills and City of Sheridan – Community Development Director Julie Kozlowski 

•	 Review of Business Ready Communities (BRC) Budget and Allocation Plan – 
Community Development Manager Noelle Reed, BRC Program Manager Karen Fate 
Grants Project Manager John Wendling will present recommendations on the following 
project applications: 

• ACTION ITEM: Consideration of staff recommendations for each project 

11:45 a.m.  Personnel, Budget and Audit Standing Committee – Chairwoman Kathy Tomassi (Section C) 

•	 Quarterly Financial Update – Accounting Manager Lyndsay Orr, CPA 

• ACTION ITEM: Consideration of acceptance of quarterly financial report 

•	 FY20 Audit Services RFP and Contract Update – Chief Operating Officer Amy Grenfell 

12:15 p.m. Other Board Matters 

•	 Standing Committees will meet by teleconference this quarter during the week of 
August 10: 

•	 Community Grant and Loan: Tuesday, August 11 at 10:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. 

•	 Personnel, Budget and Audit: Wednesday, August 12 at 10:00 to 11:00 a.m. 

•	 Business Contract and Loan: Friday, August 14 at 10:00 to 11:00 a.m. 

•	 Next Regular Meeting of this Board: September 9-10 at Kemmerer 

12:30 p.m. Adjourn Public Meeting

Project Type Request Staff 
Recommendation

Southern Water & Sewer Extension
Community Development - 

Readiness 1,000,000$                 1,000,000$                 

Wayfinding Signage
Community Development - 

Enhancement 475,000$                    -$                               

Library & Economic Development Project
Community Development - 

Enhancement 500,000$                    500,000$                    
WY State Hospital Campus Assessment & 
Redevelopment Plan Planning - ED Study

25,000$                      25,000$                     
WY State Hospital Campus Assessment & 
Redevelopment Plan Planning - ED Study

25,000$                      25,000$                     
Moorcroft Town Center Upgrade Study Planning - Feasibility Study 18,750$                      43,750$                     **
Senior Assisted Living Study Planning - Feasibility Study 18,750$                      43,750$                     **

2,062,500$                 1,637,500$                 
19,645,659$               
18,008,159$               

5. Moorcroft, Town of
6. Pine Bluffs, Town of
Total Requests
Total Available BRC Funding
Funds remaining if awarded

3. Washakie County

4. City of Evanston

4. Uinta County

BRC Applications Received March 1, 2020

Applicant

1. Saratoga Carbon Co Impact JPB

2. Laramie, City of



5Minutes   -  May 2020

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT

Chuck Brown, John Coyne III, Kim DeVore, Mike Easley, Ron Harvey, Allen Hoopes, Cindy Johnson, Chuck Kenyon, 
Jason Kintzler, Erin Moore, Pam Thayer, Kathy Tomassi

STAFF PRESENT
Sue Akey, Warren Appel, Chava Case, Tom Dixon, Josh Dorrell, Baylie Evans, Karen Fate, Sarah Fitz-Gerald, Amy 
Grenfell, Ron Gullberg, Brandi Harlow, Sherry Hughes, Shaun Jones, Josh Keefe, Julie Kozlowski, Ryan Kudera, Wendy 
Lopez, Lyndsay Orr, Marcio Paes-Barreto, Ben Peterson, Kim Porter, Amy Quick, Noelle Reed, Jason Reid, Debbie 
Richardson, Kim Rightmer, Michelle Shellhart, Heather Tupper

CONVENE PUBLIC MEETING 
Co-Chair Mike Easley called the meeting to order at 8:30 a.m. and led the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance. Board 
members introduced themselves in turn and quorum was established, then heard remarks from new CEO Josh 
Dorrell.

• ACTION ITEM: Motion to approve March 2020 Consent Agenda items by Ms. DeVore, second by Mr. Hoopes, 
and no discussion or corrections. Motion carried unanimously.

WELCOME TO GREYBULL
Northwest Regional Director Amy Quick welcomed the Board to Greybull and spoke of new developments in the 
region and the importance of small communities to Wyoming. Greybull Mayor Myles Foley and Big Horn County 
Commissioner Dave Neves thanked the board for coming to Greybull for this meeting and acknowledged the 
economic benefits the community enjoys from the WBC’s presence.

The Board then heard from Jeff Grant of the Antelope Butte Foundation who shared updates on the developments 
and improvements at the Antelope Butte Ski Area, a project funded by the WBC. These include the maintenance 
of 5-6 full-time employees through the summer, a current payroll of 24 people, and plans to add as many as 15 
additional full-time jobs as new amenities come online.

2020 BOARD COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS
Mr. Easley outlined the creation of three new committees this year. The Outreach Committee will be tasked with 
maintaining the relationships, outreach and momentum generated through the recent CEO search, and will be 
chaired by former board member and 2019 co-chair Megan Goetz.

The Strategy Execution Committee will work directly with the Chief Strategy Officer to continue focused work on 
portions of the WBC’s new strategic plan, and will be chaired by Ms. DeVore and vice-chaired by Mr. Kintzler.

The CEO Transition Committee will focus on getting new CEO Josh Dorrell oriented with the WBC’s work and serve to 

DRAFT

REGULAR MEETING OF THE WYOMING BUSINESS 
COUNCIL BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

THURSDAY, MARCH 5, 2020 | AT THE GREYBULL RECREATION DISTRICT



Minutes  -  May 20206

provide support and performance review for the CEO and the organization. This committee will consist of Mr. Easley, 
Ms. DeVore, Ms. Moore.

Mr. Easley spoke about the WBC’s three standing committees and their function in relation to this board. The 
Personnel, Budget and Audit Committee will be chaired by Ms. Tomassi with Mr. Hoopes as vice-chair. The Business 
Contract and Loan Committee will be chaired by Mr. Kintzler with Mr. Harvey as vice-chair. Erin Moore will chair the 
Community Grant and Loan committee with Mr. Coyne as vice-chair.

Mr. Easley concluded by speaking about the Executive Committee, which is comprised of the three board officers in 
additions to Ms. Tomassi and Mr. Kintzler.

BUSINESS CONTRACT AND LOAN STANDING COMMITTEE
Economic Development Finance Manager Josh Keefe presented the quarterly Challenge Loan report, including the 
escalation of the Weber Ag loan matter with an outstanding balance of $134,000.00. Keefe mentioned efforts with 
Representative Mike Greear to update the Challenge Loan statutes to allow improved enforcement of past-due loans. 
The loan loss reserve remains adequate, the available fund balance is $7,414,554.00, and there are no charge-off 
balances to report.

• ACTION ITEM: Motion to approve quarterly Challenge Loan report by Mr. Kenyon, second by Ms. Moore, and no 
discussion. Motion carried unanimously.

Keefe then presented the Board with a Bridge Loan Participation Request from First Northern Bank of Wyoming for 
Red Fork Farmstead LLC which will focus on the production of sheep cheese. The total is $975,000.00 with the WBC 
holding $300,000.00, will be secured by two real property parcels as well as personal guarantees, and will be a 10-
year note. Staff recommends participation as requested.

• ACTION ITEM: Motion to approve the participation request as presented by Mr. Hoopes, second by Ms. Thayer. 
Motion carried unanimously with Mr. Easley recused for a conflict of interest.

Keefe provided a final update on the Economic Disaster loans being issued to growers affected by the Goshen 
Irrigation Tunnel collapse of 2019. A total of 37 have been made or are in final stages, totaling some $3.2 million 
dollars and covering 12,000 acres.

Keefe concluded with a review of HB0152 affecting the Large Loan program, including a proposed amendment by 
Rep. MacGuire to update collateral and equity provisions, and which would ensure Wyoming banks have preferential 
access to the program.

Chief Operating Officer then provided the board with a review of a multi-agency contract with EMSI between the 
Governor’s Office, the Wyoming Department of Workforce Services/Workforce Development Council and the WBC 
for economic modeling and workforce development. This contract will be held by the Governor’s Office with the 
WBC serving as fiscal agent. The total contract is $238,000.00, and WBC’s share of the total is $30,000.00 with the 
remainder being paid by DWS/WWDC and the Governor’s Office. Staff recommends approval of this contract.

• ACTION ITEM: Motion to approve staff recommendations by Mr. Hoopes, second by Ms. DeVore, and no 
discussion. Motion carried unanimously.

COMMUNITY GRANT AND LOAN STANDING COMMITTEE
Community Development Director Julie Kozlowski led the board on a review of the Business Ready Communities 
budget and allocation plan, as well as recent legislative movement as it relates to the BRC program and the CD 
division overall. Kozlowski also spoke to the collaborative efforts with external stakeholders to update the BRC 
program rules, as well as the ongoing process to re-home the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program.

Kozlowski previewed the requests for consideration at this meeting totaling some $11.3 million dollars, with staff 
recommending a total of $9.9 million of funding.



7Minutes   -  May 2020

Laramie County

Community Development Manager Noelle Reed introduced a Business Committed request from Laramie County for a 
$3 million BRC Grant and $3 million BRC Loan for WYTEC, LLC. The funds will be used for the expansion of production 
facilities, with privately-funded phase II adding a sterilization facility and as many as 48 new jobs between both 
phases. The company currently employs 30 people, and has demonstrated an overall wage progression over the 
preceding 11 months of 7.7%. The board heard comments in support of the project from Anja Bendel of Cheyenne 
LEADS, and Susan Coll representing Innovive/WYTEC. Staff recommends funding as requested.

Messrs. Kintzler, Brown and Easley shared concerns about funding Phase I with no firm commitment on Phase II. 
Kozlowski suggested this board could add a contingency to the award requiring Phase II funding to be in place and 
committed by a certain date if they felt comfortable making that recommendation to SLIB.

Converse County

Community Development Project Manager Karen Fate introduced a $3 million Community Readiness grant request 
from Converse County for the construction of the John Lambert Subdivision in Douglas. Funds would be used to 
extend water, sewer and electrical infrastructure for the roughly 155 acres in the subdivision which aims to address 
workforce housing needs and attract new retail and commercial businesses. The board heard comments in support 
of the project from Chairman Robert Short of the Converse County Commission, Douglas City Councilman and 
Converse County Hospital CEO Karl Hertz, and Douglas City Administrator Jonathan Teichert. Staff recommends 
funding as requested.

Mr. Harvey spoke to his difficulties obtaining hotel rooms in Douglas for his service on the State Fair Board, with 
rooms going for upward of $300 per night simply due to the severe shortage of housing, including approximately 80 
campsites on the fairgrounds which are occupied year-round.

Town of Sinclair

Reed presented a $1,915,000.00 Community Readiness grant request from the Town of Sinclair for the restoration 
of the historic Sinclair Theater. Funds will be used to upgrade electrical, plumbing, telecommunications, mechanical 
and HVAC systems, ADA compliance, asbestos and lead paint removal, as well as interior repairs. The Town is working 
with the State Historic Preservation Office to ensure completed restorations maintain the building’s history. The 
board heard comments in support of the project from Jason Knopp, Sinclair Town Engineer, and Town Councilmen 
Leif Johannson and Cullen Meeks. Staff recommends partial funding of this project in the amount of $500,000.00 as 
a Community Enhancement project.

Town of Hudson

Fate presented a $111,338.00 Enhancement grant request from the Town of Hudson for the upgrade and renovation 
of playground equipment and construction of a picnic shelter at the town-owned Svilar Park. The community has 
engaged in fundraising efforts over the past two years raising $85,000.00 in private donations, grant funds, in-kind 
donations and volunteer work. Comments in support of the project were heard from Hudson Mayor Mike Anderson. 
Staff recommends funding this project as requested.

Niobrara County

Fate outlined a request from Niobrara County for a $268,084 Enhancement grant to fund the upgrade and 
enhancement of the main building at the Niobrara County fairgrounds. The facility is used 325 days of each year for a 
variety of community events in addition to serving as an emergency shelter for disasters. Goals of the project include 
utility savings and modifications which will allow the facility to serve additional community events. The board heard 
comments in support of the project from Niobrara County Commission Chair Pat Wade and Fair Board Secretary Erin 
Smith. Staff recommends funding as requested.



Minutes  -  May 20208

Town of Evansville

Reed presented a request from the Town of Evansville for a Planning grant in the amount of $35,000.00 to fund 
the preparation of a comprehensive economic and community development plan. The Town’s most-recent plan 
was completed in 2005 and followed the plan diligently, but circumstances have changed substantially in the years 
since, compelling an updated plan. Staff recommends funding up to $35,000.00, and further recommends the Town 
participate in a Community Review through WBC Rural Development to realize additional cost savings.

• ACTION ITEM: The request from Laramie County failed due to lack of a motion.

• ACTION ITEM: The Converse County request failed due to lack of a motion.

• ACTION ITEM: The request from the Town of Sinclair failed due to lack of a motion.

• ACTION ITEM: The Town of Hudson request failed due to lack of a motion.

• ACTION ITEM: Motion to approve staff recommendations for the Niobrara County request by Mr. Brown, second 
by Mr. Kintzler, and no discussion. Motion carried unanimously.

• ACTION ITEM: Motion to approve staff recommendations for the Town of Evansville request by Mr. Harvey, 
second by Mr. Coyne, and no discussion. Motion carried unanimously.

BROADBAND COUNCIL UPDATE
Broadband Manager Ryan Kudera provided an update on the workings of Broadband Advisory Council, including the 
realignment of advisory committees and moving forward with the final development and roll-out of the broadband 
grant process. The Council is evaluating best-practices for that grant program, and anticipates completion later 
this month which may necessitate a special meeting of the Broadband Council as well as this Board. Kudera spoke 
about two applicants currently in the pipeline which are awaiting the details of the process to move forward. Kudera 
spoke about the recent visit to Wyoming of FCC Commissioner Ajit Pai, and work the work of Sens. Wyden, Enzi and 
Barrasso with the USDA to open additional funds for rural broadband which had been blocked from Wyoming due to 
problematic rules at the federal level.

PERSONNEL, BUDGET AND AUDIT STANDING COMMITTEE
Chief Operating Officer Amy Grenfell presented the Q2 2020 Financial Report, outlining the process of encumbrances 
and how those affect the numbers shown on the report.

• ACTION ITEM: Motion to accept the quarterly financial report by Mr. Harvey, second by Mr. Kintzler, and no 
discussion. Motion carried unanimously.

FIELD OPERATIONS UPDATE
The Board received updates from Southeast Regional Director Heather Tupper, Northeast Regional Director Brandi 
Harlow, East Central Regional Manager Kim Rightmer, and South Central Regional Manager Marcio Paes-Barreto. 
Tupper also presented updates from the Western region as prepared by Regional Director Elaina Zempel.

BOARD STRATEGY DISCUSSION / BUDGET AND LEGISLATIVE UPDATE
Chief Strategy Officer Sarah Fitz-Gerald presented the board with a review of the successes based on the 2019 Key 
Initiatives and the ongoing work there, as well as the initiatives for 2020. Fitz-Gerald also spoke to the reinvigoration 
of relationships with partners and stakeholders related to the on-boarding of the new CEO.

University of Wyoming VP of Research and Economic Development Dr. Ed Synakowski joined the meeting to update 
the Board on developments within the Business Resource Network and the BRN Advisory Committee, which held 
their first partner listening session as part of the Wyoming Economic Development Association (WEDA) conference 
last week. The goal of this group is to identify gaps and needs, and organize the services offered from various public 
and private sources, and align the economic development efforts of UW and WBC. Additional listening sessions are 
planned for Riverton, Rock Springs and Gillette during the month of April.



9Minutes   -  May 2020

Strategic Partnerships Director Ron Gullberg provided the board with a review of goings-on at the Legislature which 
affect the WBC specifically or business/community development overall. Highlights include amendments to the 
Budget bills, HB0151 regarding the Large Loan program and HB0142 focused on an export-only USDA-inspected meat 
processing plant. Gullberg acknowledged the hard work and contributions of staff this legislative session.

CLOSING REMARKS AND ADJOURNMENT
Mr. Easley spoke on the upcoming meetings of the standing committees in April and the WBC Board meeting in 
Sundance May 6-7 with the Broadband Advisory Council and the Main Street Advisory Board.

There being no further business before this board, Mr. Easley adjourned the meeting at 3:19 p.m.

Respectfully Submitted:

  _______________________________________________________________  ______________________

Erin Moore, Secretary/Treasurer        Date

 
  _______________________________________________________________  ______________________

Warren R. Appel, Agency Services Manager        Date



Minutes  -  May 202010

DRAFT

SPECIAL MEETING OF THE WYOMING BUSINESS 
 COUNCIL BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

TUESDAY, APRIL 7, 2020 | 4:00 P.M. | BY ZOOM WEBINAR

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT
Erick Arens, Chuck Brown III, John Coyne III, Kim DeVore, Mike Easley, Ron Harvey, Allen Hoopes, Cindy Johnson, 
Chuck Kenyon, Jason Kintzler, Alex Klein, Mark Law, Erin Moore, Pam Thayer, Kathy Tomassi

STAFF PRESENT
Bert Adam, Warren Appel, Tom Dixon, Josh Dorrell, Baylie Evans, Karen Fate, Sarah Fitz-Gerald, Amy Grenfell, Ron 
Gullberg, Josh Keefe, Julie Kozlowski, Wendy Lopez, Justin Mabie, Lyndsay Orr, Marcio Paes-Barreto, Ben Peterson, 
Kim Porter, Amy Quick, Noelle Reed, Debbie Richardson, Jill Tregemba, Heather Tupper, John Wendling

CONVENE PUBLIC MEETING
Co-chair Mike Easley called the meeting to order at 4:00 p.m. and led the board in the Pledge of Allegiance. Roll was 
called and quorum was established.

COVID-19 RESPONSE UPDATE
Chief Executive Officer Josh Dorrell provided the board with a brief overview of the external outreach and support 
activities recently undertaken by the WBC to benefit Wyoming businesses, particularly information on the funds 
available from SBA. Chief Operating Officer Amy Grenfell then discussed the WBC’s internal response and support for 
staff which are enabling services to continue being delivered with excellence while keeping staff at home where they 
are most safe.

CDBG URGENT THREAT GRANT REQUEST: Town of Mills for the Distiller’s Guild to manufacture 
hand sanitizer
Community Development Director Julie Kozlowski presented the board with requirements under the Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) program for the issuance of these funds. Funds may be used by participating 
distilleries to cover the cost of bulk supplies to produce the hand sanitizer, with the final products to be distributed 
at no cost to local public health and emergency management officials. Kozlowski shared this project satisfies CDBG 
criteria, and recommends tracking job creation and retention despite the lack of a requirement we do so. Staff 
recommends approval of the total request in the amount of $250,000.00.

Staff fielded questions from board members on production and distribution logistics, tracking amounts produced, 
and how this work will be communicated to the Wyoming public. Ms. DeVore commended the Town of Mills and 
the Pollock family of Backwards Distilling for being proactive and assembling a request which would benefit the 
entire State and not simply Natrona County, and stated her intent to recuse from today’s vote due to Jonah Bank’s 
established banking relationship with Backwards Distilling.

• ACTION ITEM: Motion to accept staff recommendations by Mr. Harvey, second by Mr. Kenyon, and no 
discussion. Motion carried unanimously with Ms. DeVore recused.



11Minutes   -  May 2020

CLOSING REMARKS AND ADJOURNMENT
Mr. Easley offered his thanks to the WBC staff for their hard work assembling this project on short notice and for 
all the support being offered to Wyoming businesses. Easley reminded board members of upcoming committee 
meetings as well as the May 7 regular meeting of this board which will be held by webinar. Mr. Klein offered a brief 
self-introduction as part of his first meeting with this board.

There being no further business before this board, Mr. Easley adjourned the meeting at 4:38 p.m.

Respectfully Submitted:

  _______________________________________________________________  ______________________

Erin Moore, Secretary/Treasurer        Date

 
  _______________________________________________________________  ______________________

Warren R. Appel, Agency Services Manager        Date



Minutes  -  May 202012

DRAFT

SPECIAL MEETING OF THE WYOMING BUSINESS 
 COUNCIL BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

TUESDAY, APRIL 28, 2020 | 3:00 P.M. | BY ZOOM WEBINAR

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT
Erick Arens, Chuck Brown III, Kim DeVore, Mike Easley, Ron Harvey, Allen Hoopes, Cindy Johnson, Chuck Kenyon, 
Jason Kintzler, Alex Klein, Mark Law, Erin Moore, Kathy Tomassi

STAFF PRESENT
Bert Adam, Warren Appel, Tom Dixon, Josh Dorrell, Baylie Evans, Karen Fate, Sarah Fitz-Gerald, Amy Grenfell, Ron 
Gullberg, Julie Kozlowski, Justin Mabie, Lyndsay Orr, Marcio Paes-Barreto, Ben Peterson, Noelle Reed, Debbie 
Richardson, Kim Rightmer, Jill Tregemba, Heather Tupper, John Wendling, Elaina Zempel

CONVENE PUBLIC MEETING
Co-chair Mike Easley called the meeting to order at 3:03 p.m. and led the board in the Pledge of Allegiance. Roll was 
called and quorum was established.

CDBG URGENT THREAT GREAT REQUEST: City of Sheridan for the Wyoming Technology 
Coronavirus Coalition and WyoMakers to manufacture personal protective equipment
Community Development Director Julie Kozlowski presented the board with a request from the City of Sheridan 
to assist in the manufacture of non-certified personal protective equipment using Community Development Block 
Grant (CDBG) Imminent Threat Funds. Funds will be used for the purchase of raw materials to manufacture the 
equipment, and all equipment will be provided to county emergency management teams at no charge. Distribution 
will be coordinated by the City of Sheridan, and Kozlowski reminded the board of the similarity of this project to the 
recently-approved grant to the Town of Mills for the manufacture of hand sanitizer. Staff recommends approval of 
the total request in the amount of $48,000.00.

• ACTION ITEM: Motion to accept staff recommendations by Mr. Harvey, second by Mr. Kenyon, and no 
discussion. Motion carried unanimously.

CLOSING REMARKS AND ADJOURNMENT
Mr. Easley reminded board of the upcoming regular meeting scheduled for May 7, to be held by Webinar.

There being no further business before this board, Mr. Easley adjourned the meeting at 3:15 p.m.



13Minutes   -  May 2020

Respectfully Submitted:

  _______________________________________________________________  ______________________

Erin Moore, Secretary/Treasurer        Date

 
  _______________________________________________________________  ______________________

Warren R. Appel, Agency Services Manager        Date



Minutes  -  May 202014



A-1Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020

BUSINESS CONTRACT 
AND LOAN COMMITTEE

SECTION A

May 7, 2020  .  Online, Wyoming





A-3Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020

May 7, 2020

Business Contract and Loan Committee:

A–5 Quarterly Challenge Loan Report

A–7 Annual Challenge Loan Report Memo

A–8 Annual Challenge Loan Audit Report 

A–9 Response(s) to Challenge Loan Portfolio Exam 

A–16 Loan Portfolio as of December 31, 2019 

A–20 Annual SBIC Report

A–25 University of Wyoming Business Resource Network 
(BRN) Contract

A–41 Amendment of Taiwan Trade Office Contract/Lease 

AGENDA ITEMS





A-5Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020

 

 
214 W. 15th Street 

Cheyenne, WY  82002 
Tel: (307) 777-2800 Fax: (307) 777-2838 

www.wyomingbusiness.org 

Memorandum 
To: Wyoming Business Council Board of Directors  
From: Josh Keefe  
Subject: Challenge Loan Reporting Requirements 
Date: May 7, 2020 

      
1. Past Due Report.  Challenge Loan Policy requires quarterly reporting of all loans 30 days 

or more past due. 
    

• There were four past due payments on March 31, 2019: 
o Weber Ag, LLC (Economic Disaster Loan – 2017) was originated in July 

of 2017 as part of the Economic Disaster Loan declaration for the Wyoming 
Sugar Company.  Lender has made multiple attempts in the past months to 
contact the Borrower to no avail.  A demand letter was sent on January 13, 
2020.  The Borrower has until 5:00pm, February 14, 2020 to respond to the 
letter.  No response was received.  The Wyoming AG is in the process of 
filing a formal complaint against Weber Ag, LLC and Damon Weber.  This 
loan is fully reserved and has a high likelihood of being charged off.   

o Bret Weber (Economic Disaster Loan – 2017) was originated in August of 
2017 as part of the Economic Disaster Loan declaration for the Wyoming 
Sugar Company.  Both the Lender and Servicer have made multiple 
attempts to collect the payment.  Mr. Weber is communicative and it did 
take most of the year in 2019 to receive the payment that was due on January 
1, 2019.  This will more than likely be happening again.  We will continue 
to communicate with Mr. Weber going forward.  This loan is fully reserved 
as well.   

o Star Valley Natural Gas (Natural Gas Infrastructure Loan – 2014) was 
originated in September of 2014.  This is the only loan originated in this 
program and payment was received on April 6, 2020 and has been paying 
as agreed.  

o Cheyenne Family YMCA (Bridge Loan – 2019) was originated in 
September of 2019.  This payment was received on April 2, 2020, 
however, I have been in contact with Stig Hallingbye who has requested 
payments be deferred for 90 days due to the COVID-19 pandemic.  There 
will be a request brought to the WBC Board of Directors to accept these 



new terms; more information to come.    
 

2. Loan Loss Reserve Analysis.  Challenge Loan Policy requires a review of all loans that 
are delinquent (over 30 days past due) and a specific reserve will be allocated if the review 
warrants. There will be an additional unallocated reserve of one-half of one percent of the 
total portfolio balance. 
 

• The unallocated reserve is adequate with a balance of $2,036,409.  The allocation 
includes a 10% loan loss reserve for the Economic Disaster Loans originated, plus 
0.5% of the total loan portfolio.  The reserve also includes a full reserve of Weber 
Ag, LLC ($484,950) and Brett Weber ($80,913.26).  

• The only other credit that is currently being “watched” more closely is the 
Cheyenne Family YMCA.  First State Bank has already reached out to defer 
payments for 90 days and loan modification memo will be coming at some point in 
the future. 

• I have also received a request from Central Bank & Trust in Lander, WY to defer 
payments for 90 days for Redpointe, LLC.  This is the real estate holding company 
for HMH Distributors.  There will be a memo brought to the WBC Board of 
Directors shortly.    

• The resulting available fund balance in the Economic Development Fund is 
$5,411,305.   
 

3. Charge off balances.   
 
• None to report at this time 

   
Staff Recommendation:   
 

• Staff recommends acceptance of this report.  



A-7Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020

 
214 W. 15th Street 

Cheyenne, WY  82002 
Tel: (307) 777-2800 Fax: (307) 777-2838  

www.wyomingbusiness.org 

Memorandum 
To: Joint Minerals, Business and Economic Development Interim Committee 
From: Josh Dorrell, CEO  
Subject: Challenge Loan Report  
Date: May 7, 2020 

 

 W.S. 9-12-306.     Audit; report 
(b) On or before July 15 of each year, the council shall submit a written report to the Joint 

Minerals, Business and Economic Development Interim Committee reviewing rules adopted by 
the council during the reporting period, presenting a portfolio of the loans made under the 
program and presenting a risk analysis of the portfolio of loans prepared by the state banking 
commissioner. The report, portfolio of loans and risk analysis required under this subsection shall 
be public record. The risk analysis prepared by the state banking commissioner shall not be 
subject to the limitations of W.S. 9-1-512. 
 
 Exhibit A – Rules adopted by the council during the reporting period 

• Updated Challenge Loan rules/policy were promulgated on December 5, 
2019 
 

 Exhibit B – Portfolio of loans in the program as of 12-31-19 
• Three (3) new Bridge Loans during reporting period totaling $2,075,481 

o Westward Development, LLC for $900,481 
o Cottonwood Creek Memory Care, LLC for $1,000,000 
o Redpointe, LLC for $175,000 

Exhibit C – Report of Examination by the State of Wyoming, Department of Audit      
       Division of Banking 

• The WBC is administrating the loans it has funded under the Program in a 
satisfactory manner.  One technical exception was found on the last exam for 
stale financials on one loan, but no major exceptions in the last audit.  
 

Exhibit D – Wyoming Business Council Loan Report of Examination Summary and  
                    Management Corrective Actions 

• The Challenge Loan Program has made or participated in 230 loans since 
1998 

• Total loans have been $70,870,260 with the State’s portion being 
$33,319,267 

• Interest collected over last 19 fiscal years (2000–2019) totals $4,903,724 
• Estimated jobs created or retained of 758  

 
Exhibit E – Cumulative Loan Loss & History of Challenge Loan Portfolio 

• 15 loans totaling $575,632 have been charged off (1.7% loan loss) 



8888 Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020A-8

Audit Report Summary 2020-WBC Response Page 1 
 

Wyoming Business Council (WBC) Staff Comments on Department of Audit, 
Division of Banking Report (April 1, 2020) - Challenge Loan Report of Examination 

 
WBC staff comments address findings that begin on page 4 of the report. 

 
1. General Comments in the Report (beginning on page 4 under FINDINGS): 

• Overall, the WBC is administering the loans it has funded under The 
Program in a satisfactory manner.  WBC staff completes a cash flow analysis 
on loans as new financial information is obtained as well as on new loan 
requests. (page 4) 
 

• Staff Response:  
The Challenge Loan program has been successful in helping Wyoming 
businesses expand and relocate to the state.  There were no violations of 
law and the portfolio performs very well with low delinquency, minimal 
charge offs, interest generated to make more loans and jobs created across 
the state.  WBC staff is diligent in carrying out its fiscal responsibility 
while working hard to assist new and expanding businesses. 
   

2. Borrower Creditworthiness (page 4):  
• Loans funded under the Program continue to be financially sound.  Weber 

Ag, LLC is the one loan that has continued to be a “problem credit.”  This 
credit has been difficult and there’s been no repayment of the loan since 
origination.   

 
3. Loans not in Apparent Compliance with Rules and Regulations:   

• None noted at the end of the examination. 
 

4. Loans with Documentation Exceptions (page 4&5):  There were two credit 
relationships with financial statement exceptions, but only one was able to be 
corrected during the exam.  After corrections, there was one exception found 
during the examination (Cheyenne Family YMCA).   

 
• Staff Response: 

WBC staff works throughout the year to minimize documentation 
exceptions.  First State Bank had not yet received the year end audited 
financial statement(s) from the Cheyenne Family YMCA.  It has been 
communicated to the lead bank that no modification of the loan will occur 
until this documentation has been received.  

 
Additional Challenge Loan Program Information (as of 12/31/19): 

a. The Challenge Loan Program has made or participated in 230 loans since 1998 
b. Total loans have been $70,870,260 with the State’s portion being $33,319,267 
c. Interest collected over last 19 fiscal years totals $4,903,724 
d. 15 loans totaling $575,632 have been charged off (1.7% loan loss) 
e. Estimated jobs created or retained of 758   



A-9Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



10101010 Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020A-10



A-11Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



12121212 Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020A-12



A-13Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



14141414 Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020A-14



A-15Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



16161616 Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020A-16



A-17Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



18181818 Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020A-18



A-19Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



 The Wyoming Small Business Investment Credit 
(SBIC) program provides alternative sources of capital 
to qualifying Wyoming businesses and entrepreneurs.  
In 2010, the Wyoming Legislature allocated $30 
million to the program in the form of tax credits.  
The funds are managed by private investment 
companies certified and regulated by the Wyoming 
Business Council (WBC) to make investments in 
Wyoming businesses. The Business Council qualifies 
participating businesses, manages and markets the 
program and provides reports to the Legislature.  

 As of December 31, 2019, cumulative SBIC 
investments (since 12/2011):

• Total $30,014,232

• Leveraged $34,651,272 in follow-on capital

• Helped create 169 jobs 

• Financed a total of 26 businesses in Lander, Jackson, 
Alpine, Cody, Wilson, Moorcroft, Laramie, Sheridan, 
Casper, Gillette, Pinedale, and Big Piney.  

• Financed businesses in the following industries: 
meat processing, tourism, interior design, motion 
picture and video industries, construction, energy 
production service companies, manufacturing 
analytical instruments, machinery manufacturing, 
HVAC services, digital media and advertising 
services, car wash, real estate investment/
development, charter buses, pet services, a 
brewery, a convenience store, and professional 
guide services. 

Investment Companies 

 The WBC Board of Directors certifies venture 
capital or private equity companies to act as a 
Wyoming Small Business Investment Company (SBIC).  
To receive certification, a SBIC must be located, 
headquartered and licensed to conduct business in 
Wyoming and have at least two investment managers 
with a minimum of five years of experience in money 
management in venture capital, private investment 
or as an officer in a commercial bank.  SBICs invest 
designated capital into qualified businesses.  The 
SBIC’s investments, either in the form of a debt 
instrument or equity purchase, stimulate job creation 
by making capital available to Wyoming businesses.  

 Participating investors in SBICs are insurance 
companies with premium tax liability owed to 
the state of Wyoming.  Insurance companies, in 
turn, receive a tax credit equal to the amount of 
their investment.  A participating investor earns 
credit against any state premium tax liability up to 
one hundred percent (100%) of the participating 
investor’s investment of designated capital in a 
Wyoming small business investment company.  The 
total amount of tax credits earned by participating 
investors totaled $2,692,500 for the year 2020.  

SBIC
ANNUAL REPORT

2020

Creating New Opportunies

Wyoming Small Business  
Investment Companies

Designated 
Capital

Date of 
Certification Standing

Amount of 
Tax Credits 

for 2019

Investments 
as a % of 

Designated 
Capital

Enhanced Capital Wyoming Fund, LLC $25,000,000 12/12011 Good $2,692,500 100.0%
Petros Wyoming Fund I, LLC $5,000,000 2/27/2014 Good $0 100.1%

TOTAL $30,000,000 $2,692,500

Per Wyoming Statute 9-12-1307
Years 2 4 6 8

Percentage 
Invested 25% 50% 70% 100%

*If percentage isn’t met within proper time frame then investment 
company doesn’t receive their management fee.



▪ Increase transportation accessibility 
▪ Improve the business and industrial readiness of our communitiesThink BIG ▪ Grow jobs and profitability and  

assist expansion of small businessesThink SMALL

The Businesses  
To be considered for SBIC financing, a business must:

• Be headquartered and principally operated 
in Wyoming (at least 60 percent of the 
employees are employed in Wyoming or the 
business has committed in writing to move to 
Wyoming as a condition of the investment)

• Intend to remain in Wyoming after the 
receipt of the qualified investment

• Have 250 employees or less

• Not be a franchise or an affiliate of an SBIC 
and not be predominantly engaged in:

1. Professional services provided by 
accountants, doctors or lawyers

2. Banking or lending
3. Insurance 
4. Direct gambling activities

 Business Investment 
Date

 Investment 
Amount 

Debt 
or 

Equity

 Industrial 
Classification 

(NAICS) 

Employees  
at time of 

Investment

Employees 
as of 

12/31/19

Follow-On 
Capital Location

Wyoming 
Authentic 
Products, LLC

12/13/2012
5/28/2013
1/17/2014
9/15/2015
12/18/2015
7/12/2016
9/17/2018

$100,000
$100,000
$32,653
$38,775
$38,775

$1,000,000
$300,000

Equity
Equity
Equity
Equity
Equity
Debt

Equity

 Meat Processed    
(311612) 1 7 $7,584,609 Cody

Total $1,610,204 $7,584,609

Fireside 
Glamping, LLC. 12/14/12 $400,000 Debt

RV Parks and 
Campgrounds 

(721211)
2 15 - Wilson

Total $400,000

WRJ Design 
Associates, Ltd 2/11/13 $250,000* Debt

Decorating 
Consulting 

Services, Interior
(541410)

4 18 - Jackson

Total $250,000

Teton Gravity 
Research, LLC 3/12/13 $700,000* Debt

Motion Picture and 
Video Industries 

(512100)
20 20 - Jackson

Total $700,000

Peak Builders, 
Inc. 3/13/13 $400,000* Debt

New Single Family 
Construction 

(235115)
28 38 - Jackson

Total $400,000

Flowtech Fueling, 
LLC 7/9/13 $250,000* Debt

Coal Mining 
Support Services 

(213113)
5 5 - Moorcroft

Total $250,000

SciApps, Inc.

7/9/2013
3/2/2015
8/17/2015
8/31/2015

$1,000,000*
$750,000*
$250,000
$250,000

Debt
Debt
Debt

Equity

Design, 
manufacture, 
and sale of 

portable analytical 
instruments 

(334516)

11 18 $11,540,825 Laramie

Total $2,250,000 $11,540,825

Investments made by Enhanced Capital Wyoming Fund LLC

*Indicates loan has been paid in full



 Business Investment 
Date

 Investment 
Amount 

Debt 
or 

Equity

 Industrial 
Classification 

(NAICS) 

Employees  
at time of 

Investment

Employees 
as of 

12/31/19

Follow-On 
Capital Location

Vacuum 
Technologies 
Corp.

8/21/13 $750,000* Debt

Other Commercial 
and Service 

Industry Machinery 
Manufacturing 

(333318)

60 123 $4,500,000 Sheridan

Total $750,000 $4,500,000
CK Mechanical 
Plumbing & 
Heating Inc.

9/27/2013
7/28/2016

$750,000*
$650,000

Debt
Debt

Plumbing, Heating 
& Air Conditioning 

(238220)
42 90 $1,523,338 Casper

Total $1,400,000 $1,523,338
Solving Tech, 
Inc./Fuzion 
Energy

2/20/2014
3/7/2014
4/18/2014

$500,000
$1,500,000
$600,000

Debt
Debt
Debt

Oil & Gas  
Support Services  

(213112)
70 48 $500,000 Gillette

Total $2,600,000 $500,000

PitchEngine, Inc. 3/16/2015
12/8/2015

$150,000
$150,000

Debt
Debt

Digital Media 
& Advertising 

(519130)
14 5 $300,000 Lander

Total $300,000 $300,000

Rocky Mountain 
Wash, LLC

4/28/2015
4/11/2016

$70,000
$1,702,561

Debt
Debt

Car Wash &  
RE Investment

(811192)
28 29 - Pinedale

Total $1,772,561

DogJax, LLC 7/31/15 $881,500* Debt Pet Services 
(812910) 16 16 - Jackson

Total $881,500

L2 Development 
Partners, LLC

8/28/15
10/26/15

$750,000*
$2,050,000

Debt
Debt

RE Acquisition & 
Development

(651201)
3 2 - Jackson

Total $2,800,000

Mercado, LLC 6/27/2016 $450,000* Debt
Market/ 

Convenience Store 
(445120)

8 7 - Jackson

Total $450,000
Brushbuck Guide 
Services, Inc. 12/9/2016 $805,000 Debt Professional Guide 

Services (812910) 9 10 - Jackson

Total $805,000
Y2 Consultants, 
LLC 5/5/2017 $1,140,000 Debt Engineering 

Services (541330) 15 35 - Jackson

Total $1,140,000

Vertical Harvest, 
LLC

10/20/2017
5/22/2018
10/22/2018

$300,000
$50,000
$300,000

Debt
Debt
Debt

Food Crops Grown 
Under Cover

(111419)
23 37 $2,500,000 Jackson

Total $650,000 $2,500,000
DMOS Collective, 
Inc. 11/21/2017 $50,000 Equity Hand Tool Manu-

facturing (332216) 4 4 $352,500 Jackson

Total $50,000 $352,500

Investments made by Enhanced Capital Wyoming Fund LLC

*Indicates loan has been paid in full



▪ Increase transportation accessibility 
▪ Improve the business and industrial readiness of our communitiesThink BIG ▪ Grow jobs and profitability and  

assist expansion of small businessesThink SMALL

Investments made by Petros Wyoming Fund l, LLC

*Indicates loan has been paid in full

GRAND TOTAL $25,009,264

Equity = $660,203 
(2.6%) 

Debt =$24,349,061 
(97.6%)

407 576 $29,201,272

Frost2, LLC 12/21/2017 $150,000 Debt Beauty Salon
(812112) 6 6 - Jackson

Total $150,000

Powderhorn 
Partners, LLC 9/12/2018 $1,250,000 Debt 

Comm. & Ind. 
Building Operation 

(651201)
2 2 - Jackson

Total $1,250,000

Trilipid Research 
Institute, LLC 3/21/2018 $2,000,000 Debt

Toilet 
Manufacturing 

Preparation
(325620)

3 3 $400,000 Jackson

Total $2,000,000 $400,000

Delcon Partners, 
LLC 4/19/2018 $1,400,000 Debt

Plumbing, Heating 
& Air Conditioning 

(238220)
26 152 - Jackson

Total $1,400,000
Echo 
Transportation, 
LLC

9/12/2018 $750,000 Debt Charter Bus
(485510) 7 7 - Big Piney

Total $750,000

Investments made by Enhanced Capital Wyoming Fund LLC

 Business Investment 
Date

 Investment 
Amount 

Debt 
or 

Equity

 Industrial 
Classification 

(NAICS) 

Employees  
at time of 

Investment

Employees 
as of 

12/31/19

Follow-On 
Capital Location

PitchEngine, Inc. 3/16/2015
11/25/2015

$150,000*
$150,000

Debt
Debt

Digital Media 
& Advertising 

(519130)
10 14 $450,000 Lander

Total $300,000 $450,000
Alpine Keg  
SPE l, LLC 10/23/15 $259,968* Debt Brewery  

(312120) 3 3 - Alpine

Total $259,968

L2 Development 
Partners, LLC 8/11/15 $1,000,000* Debt

RE Acquisition 
& Development 

(651201)
3 3 $5,000,000 Jackson

Total $1,000,000 $5,000,000
Incline Real 
Estate Holdings 
II, LLC

3/10/16 $945,000* Debt
Comm. & Ind. 

Building Operation 
(651201)

4 4 - Jackson

Total $945,000



▪ Increase transportation accessibility 
▪ Improve the business and industrial readiness of our communitiesThink BIG ▪ Grow jobs and profitability and  

assist expansion of small businessesThink SMALL

Investment Amount Debt or Equity Employees at time  
of investment

Employees as of 
12/31/19

Follow-On
Capital

$30,014,232 Equity = $660,203 (2%)
Debt = $29,354,029 (98%) 442 615 $34,651,272

Combined SBIC Program Totals

GRAND TOTAL $5,004,968 Equity=0% 
Debt=100% 35 39 $5,450,000

*Indicates loan has been paid in full

Mercado, LLC 10/25/2016
4/18/2017

$250,000*
$310,000* Debt Convenience Store 

(445120) 8 8 - Jackson

Total $560,000

Powderhorn 
Partners, LLC 5/9/2018 $940,000 Debt

Comm. & Ind. 
Building Operation 

(651201)
3 3 - Jackson

Total $9,400,000

1175 Partners, 
LLC 5/11/2017 $1,000,000* Debt

Comm. & Ind. 
Building Operation 

(651201)
4 4 - Jackson

Total $1,000,000



A-25Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020

 
Agreement between Wyoming Business Council 

and University of Wyoming 
Page 1 of 8 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
WYOMING BUSINESS COUNCIL 

AND 
UNIVERSITY OF WYOMING 

 
 

1. Parties.  The parties to this Agreement are the Wyoming Business Council (Council), 
whose address is: 214 West 15th Street, Cheyenne, Wyoming 82002, and the University of 
Wyoming (University), whose address is: 1000 East University Avenue, Laramie, 
Wyoming 82071. 

 
2. Purpose of Agreement.  The purpose of this Agreement is to set forth the terms and 

conditions by which the University shall operate and administer the programs collectively 
known as the “Wyoming Business Resource Network” (BRN), which include the 
Manufacturing Works (MW), Market Research Center (MRC), Procurement Technical 
Assistance Center (PTAC), Wyoming Technology Transfer and Research Products Center 
(WY-TTRPC), Small Business Development Center (SBDC), Wyoming SBIR/STTR 
Initiative (WSSI), and the Wyoming Technology Business Center (WTBC) programs. The 
BRN programs, along with their respective objectives, are more fully described in 
Attachment A, Scope of Work, which is attached to and incorporated into this Agreement 
by this reference. 

 
3. Term of Agreement.  This Agreement is effective when all parties have executed it 

(Effective Date).  The term of the Agreement is from July 1, 2020 through June 30, 2021. 
All services shall be completed during this term.   

 
This Agreement may be extended by agreement of both parties in writing and subject to 
the required approvals.  There is no right or expectation of extension and any extension 
will be determined at the discretion of the Council.  
 

4. Payment.   
 

A. The Council agrees to pay the University for the services described in Attachment 
A, at the rates set forth in Attachment B, BRN Budget, which is attached to and 
incorporated into this Agreement by this reference. Total payment under this 
Agreement shall not exceed two million, four hundred ninety-one thousand, three 
hundred ten dollars ($2,491,310,00)  Payment shall be made upon submission of 
itemized quarterly invoices in accordance with the requirements in Attachment A. 
Payment shall be made within forty-five (45) days after submission of invoice 
pursuant to Wyo. Stat. § 16-6-602.  University shall submit invoices in sufficient 
detail to ensure that payments may be made in conformance with this Agreement.   

 
B. No payment shall be made for work performed before the Effective Date of this 

Agreement.  Should the University fail to perform in a manner consistent with the 
terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, payment under this Agreement 
may be withheld until such time as the University performs its duties and 
responsibilities to the satisfaction of Council. 

 



26262626 Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020A-26

 
Agreement between Wyoming Business Council 

and University of Wyoming 
Page 2 of 8 

C. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the University shall pay all costs 
and expenses, including travel, incurred by University or on its behalf in connection 
with University’s performance and compliance with all of University’s obligations 
under this Agreement.   
 

5. Responsibilities of University.  The University agrees to: 
 
A. Operate and administer the BRN programs in accordance with Attachments A and 

B. 
 
B. Maintain sufficient physical space, regional centers, professional staff, and 

consulting capacity to aid business development efforts throughout the state. 
 
C. Support the continued work of the BRN Advisory Committee comprised of four (4) 

representatives from the University as well as four (4) liaisons designated by the 
Council. The committee shall meet at least quarterly, but may meet more often as 
required by the University and the Council, and shall focus on review and 
assessment as follows: 

 
 (i) Mission and vision of the BRN programs; 
 

(ii) Actual function of BRN programs and identifying overlap and/or gaps in 
services to economic development efforts. 

 
(iii) Opportunities and obstacles to integration among BRN programs, including 

funding and government agency requirements; 
 
(iv) Development of recommendations for simplification, integration, and 

enhancements to BRN functions; 
 
(v) Collaboration, cooperation, and coordination with the Council for purpose 

of avoidance of duplication of efforts, alignment of marketing efforts, 
program strategy, and programmatic evaluation. 

 
D. Provide one (1) comprehensive BRN performance report to the Council by August 

30 of each year. The report shall include metrics in a method and manner to be 
prescribed by the BRN Advisory Committee and shall reflect performance during 
the previous fiscal year. 

 
E. Provide to the Council on an annual basis all program-specific progress reports 

submitted to federal funders for the individual BRN programs receiving federal 
support for their programs. 

 
F. Report relevant University-supported activities pertaining to business development 

and assistance to the BRN Advisory Committee. 
 
G. Acknowledge Council’s contributions to BRN programs in marketing materials. 
 



A-27Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020

 
Agreement between Wyoming Business Council 

and University of Wyoming 
Page 3 of 8 

H. Ten thousand dollars ($10,000.00) of the total Agreement amount set forth in 
Section 4 above shall be utilized as Council’s sponsorship of the University’s 
annual GRO-Biz Conference. University shall conspicuously identify Council as a 
sponsor of the event in all marketing and promotional materials related to the 
Conference, and shall extend to the Council all benefits afforded to similarly-
situated sponsors. In all other cases, funds allocated under this Agreement shall be 
expended according to the budget set forth in Attachment B except as provided in 
Section 7 below. 

 
6. Responsibilities of Council.   The Council agrees to: 

 
A. Pay University in accordance with Section 4 above. 

 
B. Designate Council members as liaisons to serve on the BRN Advisory Committee, 

and actively participate in committee meetings. 
 
C. Report all relevant Council-supported activities pertaining to business development 

and assistance to the BRN Advisory Committee whenever practical to avoid 
duplication of efforts. 

 
D. To the extent permitted by the Wyoming Public Records Act and other applicable 

law, hold in confidence information on University’s clients that may be submitted 
to Council as part of the University’s reporting obligations under this agreement, 
and recognize the sensitive nature of proprietary client information. 

 
E. Coordinate networking sessions between Council staff and BRN employees to 

build stronger partnerships. 
 
F. Acknowledge University’s contributions to BRN programs in marketing materials. 
 

 
7. Special Provisions. 
 

A. Budget Reallocation. The University may reallocate funding among and between 
budget categories in an amount not to exceed twenty percent (20%) of the total of 
the line items totals set forth in Attachment B without prior approval of the Council 
and subject to any necessary federal approvals. University shall report any 
reallocation of funds to the BRN Advisory Committee at its next regular meeting. 

 
 The University may not reduce or increase any of the line item totals set forth in 

Attachment B by more than twenty percent (20%) without prior written approval 
from the Council, and subject to any necessary federal approvals. 

 
8. General Provisions. 
 

A. Amendments.  Any changes, modifications, revisions, or amendments to this 
Agreement which are mutually agreed upon by the parties to this Agreement shall 
be incorporated by written instrument, executed by all parties to this Agreement. 



28282828 Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020A-28

 
Agreement between Wyoming Business Council 

and University of Wyoming 
Page 4 of 8 

 
B. Applicable Law, Rules of Construction, and Venue.  The construction, 

interpretation, and enforcement of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of 
the State of Wyoming, without regard to conflicts of law principles.  The terms 
“hereof,” “hereunder,” “herein,” and words of similar import, are intended to refer 
to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision or part. The Courts 
of the State of Wyoming shall have jurisdiction over this Agreement and the parties.  
The venue shall be the First Judicial District, Laramie County, Wyoming. 

 
C. Assignment Prohibited and Agreement Shall Not be Used as Collateral.  

Neither party shall assign or otherwise transfer any of the rights or delegate any of 
the duties set out in this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other 
party.  The University shall not use this Agreement, or any portion thereof, for 
collateral for any financial obligation without the prior written permission of the 
Council. 

 
D. Audit and Access to Records.  The Council and its representatives shall have 

access to any books, documents, papers, electronic data, and records of the 
University which are pertinent to this Agreement.  

 
E. Availability of Funds.  Each payment obligation of the Council is conditioned 

upon the availability of government funds which are appropriated or allocated for 
the payment of this obligation and which may be limited for any reason including, 
but not limited to, congressional, legislative, gubernatorial, or administrative 
action.  If funds are not allocated and available for continued performance of the 
Agreement, the Agreement may be terminated by the Council at the end of the 
period for which the funds are available.  The Council shall notify the University 
at the earliest possible time of the services which will or may be affected by a 
shortage of funds.  No penalty shall accrue to the Council in the event this provision 
is exercised, and the Council shall not be obligated or liable for any future payments 
due or for any damages as a result of termination under this section.   

 
F. Award of Related Contracts.  The Council may award supplemental or successor 

contracts for work related to this Agreement or may award contracts to other 
contractors for work related to this Agreement.  The University shall cooperate fully 
with other contractors and the Council in all such cases. 

 
G. Compliance with Laws.  The University shall keep informed of and comply with 

all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations in the performance of 
this Agreement. 

 
H. Confidentiality of Information. Except when disclosure is required by the 

Wyoming Public Records Act or court order, all documents, data compilations, 
reports, computer programs, photographs, data, and other work provided to or 
produced by the University in the performance of this Agreement shall be kept 
confidential by the University unless written permission is granted by the Council 
for its release.  If and when University receives a request for information subject to 
this Agreement, University shall notify Council within ten (10) days of such request 



A-29Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020

 
Agreement between Wyoming Business Council 

and University of Wyoming 
Page 5 of 8 

and shall not release such information to a third party unless directed to do so by 
Council. 

 
I. Entirety of Agreement.  This Agreement, consisting of eight (8) pages; 

Attachment A, Scope of Work, consisting of six (6) pages; and Attachment B, BRN 
Budget, consisting of one (1) page; represent the entire and integrated Agreement 
between the parties and supersede all prior negotiations, representations, and 
agreements, whether written or oral. In the event of a conflict or inconsistency 
between the language of this Agreement and the language of any attachment or 
document incorporated by reference, the language of this Agreement shall control. 

 
J. Ethics.  University shall keep informed of and comply with the Wyoming Ethics 

and Disclosure Act (Wyo. Stat. § 9-13-101, et seq.) and any and all ethical standards 
governing University’s profession. 

 
K. Extensions.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be interpreted or deemed to create an 

expectation that this Agreement will be extended beyond the term described herein.  
Any extension of this Agreement shall be initiated by the Council and shall be 
accomplished through a written amendment between the parties entered into before 
the expiration of the original Agreement or any valid amendment thereto, and shall 
be effective only after it is reduced to writing and executed by all parties to the 
Agreement.  

 
L. Force Majeure.  Neither party shall be liable for failure to perform under this 

Agreement if such failure to perform arises out of causes beyond the control and 
without the fault or negligence of the nonperforming party.  Such causes may 
include, but are not limited to, acts of God or the public enemy, fires, floods, 
epidemics, quarantine restrictions, freight embargoes, and unusually severe 
weather.  This provision shall become effective only if the party failing to perform 
immediately notifies the other party of the extent and nature of the problem, limits 
delay in performance to that required by the event, and takes all reasonable steps to 
minimize delays.   

 
M. Indemnification.  Each party to this Agreement shall assume the risk of any 

liability arising from its own conduct.  Neither party agrees to insure, defend, or 
indemnify the other. 

 
N. Independent Contractor.  The University shall function as an independent 

contractor for the purposes of this Agreement and shall not be considered an 
employee of the Council for any purpose.  Consistent with the express terms of this 
Agreement, the University shall be free from control or direction over the details of 
the performance of services under this Agreement.  The University shall assume 
sole responsibility for any debts or liabilities that may be incurred by the University 
in fulfilling the terms of this Agreement and shall be solely responsible for the 
payment of all federal, state, and local taxes which may accrue because of this 
Agreement.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be interpreted as authorizing the 
University or its agents or employees to act as an agent or representative for or on 
behalf of the Council or to incur any obligation of any kind on behalf of the Council. 



30303030 Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020A-30

 
Agreement between Wyoming Business Council 

and University of Wyoming 
Page 6 of 8 

The University agrees that no health or hospitalization benefits, workers’ 
compensation, unemployment insurance or similar benefits available to Council 
employees will inure to the benefit of the University or the University’s agents or 
employees as a result of this Agreement. 

 
O. Nondiscrimination.  The University shall comply with the Civil Rights Act of 

1964, the Wyoming Fair Employment Practices Act (Wyo. Stat. § 27-9-105, et 
seq.), the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and 
the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 and any properly promulgated rules and 
regulations thereto and shall not discriminate against any individual on the grounds 
of age, sex, color, race, religion, national origin, or disability in connection with the 
performance under this Agreement.   

 
P. Notices.  All notices arising out of, or from, the provisions of this Agreement shall 

be in writing either by regular mail or delivery in person at the addresses provided 
under this Agreement. 

 
Q. Prior Approval.  This Agreement shall not be binding upon either party, no 

services shall be performed, and the Wyoming State Auditor shall not draw 
warrants for payment, until this Agreement has been fully executed, and approved 
as to form by the Office of the Attorney General. 

 
R. Insurance Requirements.  University is protected by the Wyoming Governmental 

Claims Act, Wyo. Stat. § 1-39-101, et seq., and represents that it will provide self-
insurance up to the applicable limits. 

 
S. Publicity.  Any publicity given to the projects, programs, or services provided 

herein, including, but not limited to, notices, information, pamphlets, press releases, 
research, reports, signs, and similar public notices in whatever form, shall identify 
the Council as the sponsoring agency. 

 
T. Severability.  Should any portion of this Agreement be judicially determined to be 

illegal or unenforceable, the remainder of the Agreement shall continue in full force 
and effect, and the parties may renegotiate the terms affected by the severance. 

 
U. Sovereign Immunity and Limitations.  Pursuant to Wyo. Stat. § 1-39-104(a), the 

State of Wyoming, the Council and the University expressly reserve sovereign 
immunity by entering into this Agreement and specifically retain all immunities 
and defenses available to them as sovereigns.  The parties acknowledge that the 
State of Wyoming has sovereign immunity and only the Wyoming Legislature has 
the power to waive sovereign immunity. Designations of venue, choice of law, 
enforcement actions, and similar provisions shall not be construed as a waiver of 
sovereign immunity. The parties agree that any ambiguity in this Agreement shall 
not be strictly construed, either against or for either party, except that any ambiguity 
as to sovereign immunity shall be construed in favor of sovereign immunity. 
 



A-31Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020

 
Agreement between Wyoming Business Council 

and University of Wyoming 
Page 7 of 8 

V. Taxes.  The University shall pay all taxes and other such amounts required by 
federal, state, and local law, including, but not limited to, federal and social security 
taxes, workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance, and sales taxes.  

 
W. Termination of Agreement.  This Agreement may be terminated, without cause, 

by the Council upon thirty (30) days written notice.  This Agreement may be 
terminated by the Council immediately for cause if the University fails to perform 
in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 
 

X. Third-Party Beneficiary Rights.  The parties do not intend to create in any other 
individual or entity the status of third-party beneficiary, and this Agreement shall 
not be construed so as to create such status.  The rights, duties, and obligations 
contained in this Agreement shall operate only between the parties to this 
Agreement and shall inure solely to the benefit of the parties to this Agreement.  
The provisions of this Agreement are intended only to assist the parties in 
determining and performing their obligations under this Agreement. 

 
Y. Time is of the Essence.  Time is of the essence in all provisions of this Agreement. 
 
Z. Titles Not Controlling.  Titles of sections and subsections are for reference only 

and shall not be used to construe the language in this Agreement. 
 
AA. Waiver.  The waiver of any breach of any term or condition in this Agreement shall 

not be deemed a waiver of any prior or subsequent breach. Failure to object to a 
breach shall not constitute a waiver. 

 
GG. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts. Each counterpart, 

when executed and delivered, shall be deemed an original and all counterparts 
together shall constitute one and the same Agreement. Delivery by the University 
of an originally signed counterpart of this Agreement by facsimile or PDF shall be 
followed up immediately by delivery of the originally signed counterpart to the 
Council.  

 
THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 

 



32323232 Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020A-32

 
Agreement between Wyoming Business Council 

and University of Wyoming 
Page 8 of 8 

9. Signatures.  The parties to this Agreement, either personally or through their duly 
authorized representatives, have executed this Agreement on the dates set out below, and 
certify that they have read, understood, and agreed to the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement. 

 
The Effective Date of this Agreement is the date of the signature last affixed to this page. 

 
 
COUNCIL: 
Wyoming Business Council 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Amy L. Grenfell, Chief Operating Officer      Date 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Sarah Fitz-Gerald, Chief Strategy Officer      Date 
 
 
UNIVERSITY: 
University of Wyoming 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Neil Theobald, Interim President       Date 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Tara R. Evans, General Counsel       Date 
 
 
ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE:  APPROVAL AS TO FORM 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Margaret A. R. Schwartz, Assistant Attorney General    Date 
 



A-33Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020

   
 

Attachment A to the Agreement between Wyoming Business Council 
 and University of Wyoming 

Page 1 of 6 
 

ATTACHMENT A TO THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
WYOMING BUSINESS COUNCIL  

AND  
UNIVERSITY OF WYOMING  

 
Scope of Work 

 
Scope of Work: Manufacturing-Works  
 
Assist small and medium size manufacturing businesses throughout the State of Wyoming in 
enhancing the productivity, technological performance, and competitiveness by acquiring 
assistance with manufacturing technology and techniques. WBC will provide matching funds for 
the continuation of Manufacturing Works, located on the campus of the University of Wyoming 
and administer by the University of Wyoming in conjunction with and leveraging funds from the 
National Institute of Science and Technology (NIST). 
 

1. Innovation: To promote an innovative culture within individual companies, train, coach, 
and consult with Wyoming manufacturers about innovation and continuous improvement 
processes.  This will be completed by offering training, one-on-one consulting, and 
facilitating project management assistance.  
 

2. Technology Assistance: Foster and connect Wyoming manufacturers with new, 
trending, or innovative technologies and/or resources.  

 
MW will minimally assist with the following: 

• Product development and prototype fabrication 
• Working collaboratively with UW College of Engineering programs  
• Facilitate energy efficiency assistance including ASHRAE Level I and II 

energy audits 
• Facilitate cybersecurity compliance demands that expand beyond the free 

services offered by other BRN programs 
• Arrange and facilitate experiential learning opportunities through paid 

internships 
 

3.  Market Expansion: Assist with business expansion including but not limited to: 
diversification of product line, markets, and exporting (domestic and international). 
 

4. Business Advising/Leadership Development and Transition Planning: Facilitate 
transitions for manufacturers by exploring the unique features of the family business and 
assist the family in becoming more engaged and equipped to build value, meet the 
challenges of both business and family, and create a sustainable workforce for the future. 

 
5. Workforce Development: Support a quality management culture by promoting quality 

management training for individual small manufacturing entities (SMEs) and certification 
and audit assistance, e.g. International Organization for Standardization (ISO) or 
Underwriters Laboratories (UL) programs for SMEs. 

 
6. Collaboration: Work collaboratively with members of the Business Resource Network 



34343434 Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020A-34

   
 

Attachment A to the Agreement between Wyoming Business Council 
 and University of Wyoming 

Page 2 of 6 
 

to provide the greatest value and resources to manufacturers. 
 
 
Scope of Work:  Market Research Center 
 
1. Technical Market Research Assistance  

The Market Research Center provides technical marketing research assistance to existing 
business development, research, and service organizations; provides service to new 
entrepreneurial startups as well as existing firms being assisted by development organizations 
desiring significant market expansion. Specific technical marketing research topics may 
include but are not limited to: 

 
• Industry Statistics, Data Trend and Best Practices 
• Financial Data by Business Type 
• Competitive Intelligence 
• Segmentation Analysis 
• Marketing Strategies 
• Marketing and Mailing Lists 
• Geographic Information Systems (GIS) 
• Demographic, Psychographic and Spending Data 
• Website Review and Analysis 
• Social Media Platform Marketing Evaluation 
• Business Use of Online Research Tools 
• Commercial Construction Project Reports (Bid Opportunities) 
• Customer Satisfaction Assessment 

 
2.   Applied Market Research Assistance 

Assist specific locally sponsored business by coordinating research needs with support 
organizations. 

 
3. Dissemination of Market Research Center Activities 

 Promote market research services. 
 
 
Scope of Work: Procurement Technical Assistance Center (PTAC) 
 
The University provides small business assistance and training in the following 
areas: 
 

1. Assistance to Wyoming businesses in contracting with state, local, and 
federal governments, and provide outreach to state and local agencies on contracting 
with Wyoming businesses. 

2. Provide training, education, and guidance specifically related to government 
contracting. 

3. Support an electronic bid match system to notify participating businesses of 
opportunities with the government. 
 



A-35Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020

   
 

Attachment A to the Agreement between Wyoming Business Council 
 and University of Wyoming 

Page 3 of 6 
 

The Council acknowledges and concurs with the University’s proposal to 
secure and follow Defense Logistics Agency (DLA) Agreements, and 
performance criteria contained therein.   

 
 
Scope of Work:   Wyoming Technology Transfer and Research Products Center (WY-
TTRPC)   
 
The University operates the Wyoming Technology Transfer and Research Products 
Center (WY-TTRPC) at the University of Wyoming and provides a yearly report 
of the activities and the programs to include a listing of individuals and companies, 
if allowable by law, that received assistance; 
 
1. The University retains an individual with expertise in the areas of 

technology transfer; 
2. The University facilitates technology transfer through various 

means, including but not limited to: 
o Create methods and channels of access between Wyoming businesses 

and entrepreneurs and the expertise of University faculty and academic 
professionals. 

o Assist Wyoming businesses in prototyping by directing them to the 
appropriate and relevant resources related to prototyping within the 
State of Wyoming, including but not limited to, Manufacturing Works 
and any other relevant prototyping services that are now or may 
become available. 

o Help companies and entrepreneurs in Wyoming to use the capabilities 
of the WY-TTRPC and Council regional offices for multidisciplinary 
assistance in areas relating to, but not limited to, general information which 
does not rise to the level of legal advice relating to intellectual property 
protection, preparation of licensing agreements, as well as initial market 
assessments of potential technologies and ventures, and other matters 
related to technology transfer. 

o Provide training at minimum cost through the Council's regional offices 
for Wyoming entrepreneurs and businesses on topics relating to 
technology transfer. 

3.  With support from the Council, partner with experienced patent and IP 
attorneys to provide general information to independent inventors on 
intellectual property law, and protection and commercialization strategies. 

 
 
Scope of Work: Small Business Development Center 
 
The University provides small business assistance and training for new and existing businesses 
in the following areas: 
 

1. Needs Assessment: Analysis of strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats 
associated with the potential or ongoing operation of business enterprises. 



36363636 Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020A-36

   
 

Attachment A to the Agreement between Wyoming Business Council 
 and University of Wyoming 

Page 4 of 6 
 

2. Comprehensive Business Planning: Documentation of goals and objectives, as 
well as the strategies for achieving them. Startup assistance. 

3. Market Research and Market Strategy: Consideration of markets for 
products/services and how to best take said products/services to those markets. 

4. Financial Statement Analysis and Control: Evaluation of past and present 
financial health and position. 

5. Cash Flow Analysis and Financial Projections: Study of forecasted cash flows 
and operations. 

6. Debt, Equity, and alternative Funding Development: Evaluation and presentation 
of financing requirements and opportunities. 

7. Valuation Methods: Utilization of tools to determine value when buying and/or 
selling businesses. 

8. Strategic Planning: Definition of business objectives (the vision and the 
application of that vision to help guide the decision-making process). 

9. Management Issues and Specialty Areas: Examination of business policies and 
procedures, management styles, human resources, organization development, 
computerized bookkeeping, e-commerce, sustainable business, cybersecurity/risk 
management, and international trade, etc. 

10. Training: Identification and coordination of group training to address specific 
issues affecting Wyoming's small businesses. Development of online training 
methods. 

 
The Council acknowledges and concurs with the University’s proposal to secure and follow U.S. 
Small Business Administration (SBA) Agreements, and performance criteria contained therein. 
 
 
Scope of Work: Small Business Innovation Research (SBIR) and Small Business 
Technology Transfer (STTR) 
 

1. SBIR/STTR administration and coordination of activities  
a. Meet with individuals who have ideas or technologies, conduct a needs assessment 

for fit with SBIR/STTR program, refer clients to appropriate resources and provide 
assistance for product development and SBIR/STTR funding. 

b. Travel in state to promote the program and meet with Wyoming entrepreneurs, travel 
to national and regional SBIR/STTR conferences to meet with federal agency 
program managers, receive training on program changes and assist Wyoming 
entrepreneurs with networking, program requirements and education. 

c. Identify, recruit, and retain mentors to work with Phase 0 awardees. 
d. Promote the program through the Wyoming SBIR/STTR email news, 

www.uwyo.edu/sbir website, social media, pamphlets, fliers, postcards, banners and 
other promotional items. 

e. Review and comment on SBIR/STTR proposals from Wyoming entrepreneurs prior 
to submission at national level. 

f. Arrange workshops, webinars, and other meetings that describe SBIR programs and 
educate Wyoming entrepreneurs regarding the SBIR/STTR program requirements. 

g. Administration of Phase 0 and Phase 00 program includes advising clients of program 
details, reviewing proposals for compliance making recommendations for improved 



A-37Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020

   
 

Attachment A to the Agreement between Wyoming Business Council 
 and University of Wyoming 

Page 5 of 6 
 

competitive Phase 0/00 proposals, preparing contracts, and ensuring contract 
obligations are met, and authorizing dissemination of Phase 0/00 funds. 

h. Identify, recruit, and train Phase 0/00 reviewers. 
i. Continue to collaborate with Council on ways to enhance program marketing to 

increase statewide awareness and accessibility of the program. 
j. Continue to work with Council the WTBC, and other partners and stakeholders to 

connect startups to investors and capital. 
 
Scope of Work: Wyoming Technology Business Center (WTBC) 

The WTBC focuses on developing early stage companies, with an emphasis on high-growth 
business-to-business (B2B) firms.  Target client business models trend towards technical 
(CompSci, biotech, engineering) focus in Laramie, medical and energy technologies (along with 
general business) in Casper, and general business in Sheridan.  We expect that as incubator 
presence potentially expands to other geographies in the state in the future, the respective local 
mix of clients will reflect local economies and demographic realities.  

All client companies, regardless of location within the state, receive personal one-on-one or virtual 
one-on-one business counseling, mentoring, and executive coaching services provided by the 
WTBC staff based on their stage of development and specific business model. WTBC also 
provides advisory services to pre-venture client companies not residing in the incubators, including 
University spinout concepts, to promote a flow of future new companies. WTBC works closely 
with all other segments of the Business Resource Network, including the SBDC, Manufacturing 
Works, and the University’s Technology Transfer and Research Products Center.  

• Provide documentation of “WTBC Program” outlining standard but flexible policies, and 
methods used by the WTBC to support high-growth potential startups, including: 

• Program methodology around the WTBC’s version of Lean Launchpad/Startup.  
• Incubator entry criteria, process(es) that clients experience during the WTBC 

engagement, and incubator exit criteria.  
• Client roles and responsibilities within the program and managing the program 

flow for each client.  
• Application process for becoming a WTBC client   

• Advise and support high-growth-potential startups that seek be primary employers in the 
early stages of business development following the WTBC Program. This is performed 
not just in the incubator communities but is a resource available to anyone in the State 
who seeks assistance.  

• Provide Nnetworking opportunities within the three incubator communities are available 
through Entrepreneur to Entrepreneur (e2e), a networking group that is designed to 
improve the climate for the start-up and growth of entrepreneurial companies that 
regularly includes a brief educational component.  Additionally, the incubators hold 
regular client networking sessions to afford peer-to-peer counseling and support.  

• A standard “best practices” document will be generated defining the current e2e 
program - a reference document for other communities to use if there is impetus 
to develop their own e2e-type program locally. WTBC will advise those 
communities as they request it. 



38383838 Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020A-38

   
 

Attachment A to the Agreement between Wyoming Business Council 
 and University of Wyoming 

Page 6 of 6 
 

• It is expected that this will resume during FY21 from hiatus due to current FY20 
COVID-19 response.  Re-launch will occur when prudent. 

• The WTBC advises and supports high-growth startups in the early stages of business 
development and supports overall economic and community development. This is 
performed not just in the incubator communities but is a resource available to anyone in 
the State who seeks assistance. 

• The WTBC operatesOperate 6 separate “Startup Challenges” (or similar name) which are 
entrepreneurship pitch competitions including:.  Starting with the Fisher Innovation 
Launchpad in 2016, more than 50 companies have been launched cumulatively, with more 
than half still operating.  Overhead is covered by both UW ORED and WBC for the 
community challenges, and NSF for MECSL and WRSC.  Following is a current (FY21) 
list of entrepreneurship challenges operated by WTBC: 

• Fisher Innovation Launchpad:  University of Wyoming, working capital funded 
through the Fisher endowment and UW School of Energy Resources. 

• Casper Startup Challenge: Funded by Casper community and UW 
• Sheridan Startup Challenge:  Funded by Sheridan community and UW 
• Microbial Ecology Collaborative Startup Launchpad – MECSL:  Funded by NSF 

EPSCoR and run statewide through 2021. 
• Wind River Startup Challenge – WRSC:  Funded by NSF EPSCoR and targeting 

the two sovereign tribes on WRIR through 2021. 
• Southeast Wyoming Innovation Launchpad – SEWYIL: Funded by Albany and 

Laramie County communities. 
• Additional counseling and team support is also provided collaboratively to the 

UW College of Business entrepreneurship competition, the Ellbogen $50K. 
• WTBC is organizingOrganize and coordinateing a statewide “entrepreneurship expo”, 

which is presently branded, “Innovate 307”, and launching late summer of 2020.  Financial 
support is mainly from UW, but with WBC leverage.  Current vision sees three separate 
tracks of, i) Venture Capital and pitch competition, ii) Entrepreneurship education and best 
practices, and, iii) Incubator training and best practices.  If tracks are successful, they will 
be repeated, evolved, or adapted at some agreed-upon interval, likely annually.   

• Year one (August 2020) scope has been significantly impacted by both state and 
federal COVID-19 response, obviating a large two-day public gathering of 
entrepreneurship stakeholders within the state.  Instead, for FY21, the Innovate 
307 program will establish expectations for a June 2021 (tentative) large public 
event in Casper that was originally envisioned for August 2020.  The August 2020 
program will instead be held virtually, or if allowed, in abbreviated small and 
much shorter (half day) forum.   

• With respect to helping the state understand and build methodologies targeted at 
increasing the number of primary employers in the state, WTBC will: 

• Define the “typical” demographics of the WTBC client mix by unit as an initial 
benchmark in FY21 against which to track improvements in mix within each site 
program. 



A-39Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020

   
 

Attachment A to the Agreement between Wyoming Business Council 
 and University of Wyoming 

Page 7 of 6 
 

• Further integrate Laramie WTBC mission with the UW TTO, with a goal of 
mutually shepherding more university technologies into the commercial sector 
within Wyoming.  The deliverable for FY21 shall be: 
 Bilaterally develop a list of possible UW IP that could potentially be 

commercially spun out concomitantly with an assessment of current 
TRL/BRL levels and what would be required to move this IP forward. 

• Develop and publish a WTBC standard policies, methods, or manual for use or reference 
by any Wyoming community economic development entity describing: 

• Program methodology around the WTBC’s version of Lean Launchpad/Startup. 
• Incubator entry criteria, process(es) that clients experience during the WTBC 

engagement, and incubator exit criteria. 
• Client roles and responsibilities within the program and managing the program 

flow for each client. 
• Create a network of WTBC alumni. 
• The WTBC reports, through the University’s Office of Research and Economic 

Development, aggregate economic impact data across all WTBC incubator programs 
annually to the Wyoming Business Council. The report will include: 

• Brief descriptions of each company in the WTBC Program, including where they 
are in the WTBC Program process, successes and challenges.  

• Number of companies operating within WTBC facilities, grouping by associated 
industries represented, and outreach (non-resident) clients supported.  

• Documentation of how WTBC companies are leveraging technology created by 
UW faculty or students. 

•  
• Aggregate number of new FTE employees and estimated payroll of those 

companies in the WTBC Program.  
• Total number of new company startups each year supported by each WTBC site 

and in aggregate.  This report will also list those startups by general 
industry/service segment for each client. 

• Aggregate external funding captured by client companies in the WTBC network, 
broken out by angel, VC, and traditional financing..  

• Number Brief descriptions of graduated companies continuing operations in 
Wyoming, including longevity, successes, failures, challenges, learnings..  

• Attendance and impact reporting on the Wyoming event programming. 
• A summary of challenges faced by Wyoming high-growth-potential startups and 

recommended solutions. 



40404040 Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020A-40

Attachment B to the Agreement between Wyoming Business Council 
and University of Wyoming 

Page 1 of 1 

ATTACHMENT B TO THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
WYOMING BUSINESS COUNCIL 

AND 
UNIVERSITY OF WYOMING 

 
BRN Budget 

 
 

 FY21 WBC Funding 
7/1/20 – 6/30/21 UW Funding1 Federal 

Funding2 
Manufacturing 
Works (MW) $572,353.00 $459,315.00 $600,000.00 

Procurement 
Technical 
Assistance Center 
(PTAC) 

$133,887.00 $160,680.00 $257,761.00 

Small Business 
Development 
Center (SBDC) 

$763,778.00 $580,064.00 $727,778.00 

WY SBIR/STTR 
Initiative (WSSI) $235,628.00 $79,933.00 $0.00 

Market Research 
Center (MRC) $292,476.00 $98,906.00 $0.00 

Wyoming 
Technology 
Business Center 
(WTBC) 

$407,939.00 $510,262.00 $0.00 

Technology 
Transfer/Research 
Products Center  
(WY-TTRPC) 

$75,249.00 $1,066,588.00 $0.00 

GRO-Biz 
Conference $10,000.00   

TOTAL $2,491,310.00 $2,955,748.00 $1,585,539.00 
 

1: The figures in this column include the indirect overhead support provided by the University (calculated 
using the University’s facilities & administrative cost recovery rate of 44.5%) and are presented here for 
reference only. These figures are not binding upon the Council or the University under the terms of this 
Agreement. 

2: The figures in this column are presented for reference only and are not binding upon the Council or the 
University under the terms of this Agreement. 



A-41Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



42424242 Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020A-42



A-43Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



44444444 Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020A-44



COMMUNITY GRANT
AND LOAN COMMITTEE

SECTION B

May 6-7, 2020  .  Online, Wyoming



TM 



Community Grant  
and Loan Committee

Report and Recommendations to the 
Wyoming Business Council

May 7, 2020

CONTENTS

BRC Application and Financial Summary               B–5

BRC Allocation Plan                                       B–5

Saratoga Carbon County Impact JPB– 
Southern Water & Sewer Extension                      B–7

City of Laramie–Wayfinding Signage                    B–11

Washakie County–Library & Economic 
Development Project                                     B–15

City of Evanston/Uinta County–WY State Hospital 
Campus Assesment & Redevelopment Plan           B–19

Town of Moorcroft–Moorcroft Town 
Center Upgrade Study                                   B–23

Town of Pine Bluffs–Senior Assisted Living Study    B–27

Addendum                                                 B-31



TM 



W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

BUSINESS READY COMMUNITY OVERVIEW

BRC Application and Financial Summary

Total available funds: $19,645,659 

Applications received for the March 1, 2020 Application cycle: 

Awards are contingent on the satisfactory execution and administration of previous grants or loans by an 
applicant. Other contingencies, if any, are defined in the project descriptions. The office of the Attorney 
General conducts a review of applications that are Business Committed, that have a loan component, or 
any extenuating circumstances. 

Allocation Plan – FY20  

FY20 Q4 Allocation 

Project Type Request Staff 
Recommendation

Southern Water & Sewer Extension
Community Development - 

Readiness 1,000,000$  1,000,000$  

Wayfinding Signage
Community Development - 

Enhancement 475,000$  -$  

Library & Economic Development Project
Community Development - 

Enhancement 500,000$  500,000$  
WY State Hospital Campus Assessment & 
Redevelopment Plan Planning - ED Study

25,000$  25,000$  
WY State Hospital Campus Assessment & 
Redevelopment Plan Planning - ED Study

25,000$  25,000$  
Moorcroft Town Center Upgrade Study Planning - Feasibility Study 18,750$  43,750$  **
Senior Assisted Living Study Planning - Feasibility Study 18,750$  43,750$  **

2,062,500$  1,637,500$  
19,645,659$               
18,008,159$               

5. Moorcroft, Town of
6. Pine Bluffs, Town of
Total Requests
Total Available BRC Funding
Funds remaining if awarded

3. Washakie County

4. City of Evanston

4. Uinta County

BRC Applications Received March 1, 2020

Applicant

1. Saratoga Carbon Co Impact JPB

2. Laramie, City of

Q4 Allocation pending June, 2020 SLIB
Priorities % of Allocation Q4 Allocation Available

High 45% 4,420,273$  
Medium 54% 5,304,328$  

Low 1% 98,229$  
9,822,830$  

BRC Project Types
Business Committed 
Community Development
Planning

B-5Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



TM 



Business Ready Community Grant and Loan Program

SARATOGA CARBON COUNTY 
IMPACT JPB

SARATOGA SOUTHERN WATER AND 
SEWER EXTENSION  

W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

$1,000,000 Community Readiness Grant 
Request, $200,000 Cash Match

Staff Recommendation: Fund as requested contingent 
on USDA loan 

Project Description
The Saratoga Carbon Co. Impact JPB requests $1 million in 
Community Readiness funds for the extension of necessary water 
and sewer infrastructure to a 5-acre site located on the west end of 
the Town of Saratoga. This project will meet the following goals: 

•  Expand water and sewer infrastructure to a site targeted for
commercial growth as outlined in the Town of Saratoga’s
2016 Comprehensive Master Plan; and

•  Provide necessary water and sewer infrastructure to assist
in the construction of a new 42,000 square-foot health care
facility to be located in the proposed site.

Strategic Value Proposition 
This project meets one of the primary strategic objectives outlined in 
the Town of Saratoga 2016 Comprehensive Master Plan, which is to 

B-7Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



ready a site and the west end of town for future commercial development. Infrastructure to this site also 
meets a second strategic objective identified in the goal of maintaining and expanding local healthcare 
options for the Town of Saratoga. 

This project ties into the Wyoming Business Council’s Strategic Plan in that it will “help existing knowledge, 
creative and advanced manufacturing businesses expand” as healthcare has been identified as one of the 
new economic sectors. This project will: 

•  Assist in the construction of a new 42,000 square-foot medical facility

•  Assist in retaining 25-36 employees at the Saratoga Medical Clinic/Pharmacy as well as the nursing
facility which will become part of the new medical facility

•  Provide medical services in town that would otherwise require residents to travel to other
communities.

•  Complement large employers in the area, i.e. Brush Creek Ranch by providing local services for
their employees and visitors that come to the dude ranch each year.

•  Assist in the future development of hotel/motels, service-related development, new business
expansion related to the health care facility, increase in local sales tax and other related efforts.

• Allow for existing businesses to benefit from the water and sewer infrastructure.

Project Readiness 
This property and the corresponding area have been identified in the Saratoga 2016 Comprehensive 
Master Plan specifically targeted for commercial development. Furthermore, the community has 
maintained communication with the Hospital Board during the development of this project and 
application. They have also researched and applied for several funding sources, such as the USDA and 
private investments. 

The Business  
Although this project is not a Business Committed project, the new infrastructure will assist in the 
construction of the new 42,000 square-foot Platte Valley Medical Center. The new medical center will 
employ 16.1 FTE in the first year and 65.9 by 2024.  

Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-8



Performance Measure Chart   

Funding Sources and Uses 
Request of $1,000,000 in Community 
Readiness grant funds will be matched 
with a $200,000 cash match from the 
Gretchen Swanson Family Foundation. 
Additional funding sources for the 
construction of the hospital are from 
the following sources: 

•  $17,657,000 in USDA loan
funding (approval expected by
June 2020);

•  $500,000 from a Helmsley
Grant for medical equipment
(contingent on USDA funding);

•  $4,000,000 from private funding sources ($3,750,000 committed to date when application was
submitted).

Staff Recommendation 
Staff recommends funding as requested, contingent upon the award of the USDA loan. 

BRC amount 1,000,000$  
Cash Match 200,000$     
Total eligible project cost 1,200,000$  
BRC % of total eligible project costs 83%
Local % of total eligible project costs 17%

Non-Construction Costs
Architectural and Engineering fees 200,000$     

Site work - Water Line/Sewer Line Construction 909,116$     
Contingencies (8%) 90,884$      
Total Uses 1,200,000$  

Sources

Uses

Construction Costs

Description BRC Match
Cash

Non-Construction Costs 166,667$     33,333$  
Construction Costs 833,333$     166,667$               
Total Project Cost 1,000,000$  200,000$               

83%
Quantity

1

17,657,000$          

500,000$               

3,750,000$            

5 acres
42,000 square-feet

2,781 lineal-feet
3,000 lineal-feet

misc

Saratoga Carbon Co Impact JPB - Southern Water & Sewer Extension
Project Budget Projected Grant Expenditure Schedule

Total

200,000$  
1,000,000$  
1,200,000$  

Percentage BRC of all cash:
Performance 
Measures

Measure
Businesses Assisted New hospital facility.

Additional Public Investment
USDA funding - pending 
award

Additional Grant Funding
Helmsey Grant - for medical 
equipment (pending USDA 
funding)

Additional Private Investment
Committed to date (total will 
be $4 million pending USDA 
funding)

Project 
Infrastructure

Acres Developed Approximate 5 acre site
New Building Construction New hospital construction
Water New water line construction
Sewer New sewer line construction
Road Patchwork as needed.

B-9Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



TM 



Business Ready Community Grant and Loan Program

CITY OF LARAMIE   
WAYFINDING AND STREETSCAPING   

W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

Community Enhancement Project  
$475,000 Grant Request, $125,000 Cash 

Match, $6,000 In-Kind Match  
Staff Recommendation: Do not fund

Project Description
The city of Laramie requests $475,000 in Community Enhancement 
funds for the enhancement of gateways into the community, 
purchase and installation of overhead banners to advertise local 
events, and the purchase and installation of wayfinding signage 
throughout the community that fortify the quality and character 
of the community.  This project will also serve to complement the 
city’s Catalyst Redevelopment and Reinvestment pilot program 
which is a public/private partnership to encourage reinvestment 
and redevelopment in key retail corridors. This project will also 
help set the stage for the Wyoming Department of Transportation’s 
multimillion-dollar reconstruction of Third Street proposed to start in 
2020 and ending in 2025. 

Partnerships include: 

• Laramie Main Street Alliance
• University of Wyoming
• Albany County Tourism
• Laramie Chamber Business Alliance
• Laramie Jubilee Days

B-11Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Strategic Value Proposition 
This project aligns with the 2018 Laramie Main Street Wayfinding Plan. Laramie Main Street Alliance 
received Technical Assistance funding from the Wyoming Main Street program in the amount of 
$22,950 for this study. Laramie Main Street received another $25,000 in Wyoming Main Street Technical 
Assistance funding for wayfinding signage, which is part of the overall cash match. Laramie recently 
completed the Thrive Laramie Community and Economic Development Action Strategy. Wayfinding was not 
a large strategic goal, but it fell into #7 of the overall actions outlined in the plan. 

This project indirectly touches some areas of the WBC Strategic Plan. 

Project Readiness 
This project is proposed to tie into the WYDOT Third Street redevelopment and was scheduled for 2020; 
with the current covid-19 situation, this work may be postponed until 2021 or later.   

The community has also been able to secure multiple project partners and sources of funding to complete 
this project. 

Performance Measure Chart 

Description BRC
Cash In-Kind

Non-Construction Costs 14,250$      3,750$  2,000$  
Construction Costs 460,750$     121,250$               4,000$  
Total Project Cost 475,000$     125,000$               6,000$  

79%
Quantity

1,000 +

??

$0
(Less than 1/2 acre)

4
72
6

Laramie Wayfinding and Streetscape Enhancement Project
Project Budget Projected Grant Expenditure Schedule

Match Total

20,000$  
586,000$  
606,000$  

Percentage BRC of all cash:
Performance 
Measures

Measure Notes
Businesses Assisted This number cannot be exactly determined.  With 

entryway signs, banners and wayfinding, many 
people will be directed to key business centers and 
other commercial areas benefitting many different 
businesses.

Revenue Recapture

This number cannot be determined.  Revenue will 
generally be recaptured through sales tax, tourism 
and other community events that will use the new 
wayfinding signage and streetscaping.

Additional Investment No additional investment is needed at this time.
Acres Developed Due to the nature of this project, acreage 

development will be minimal with most "acreage" 
being at the entryway signs.

Project 
Infrastructure

Overhead Banners
Wayfinding Signage
Enhanced Gateways

Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-12



Funding Sources and Uses  
Grant request amount of $475,000 will 
be matched by the following sources: 

•  Laramie Main Street Alliance:
$45,000 cash match

•  University of Wyoming:  $15,000
cash match

•  Albany County Tourism:  $15,000
cash match

•  Laramie Chamber Business
Alliance: $9,167 cash match

•  City of Laramie:  $35,833 cash
match; $6,000 in-kind match in
equipment, project management,
and employee time in demolition
of existing signs.

Staff Recommendation 
Staff does not recommend funding. The project does not fit within the Wyoming Business Council strategy. 
There was insufficient evidence of how this project would increase visitors, increase sales tax, retain/attract 
businesses, etc. Other reasons that Staff is unable to recommend funding for this project include: 

•  The city voted in a Special Purpose Tax, which began collecting funds in 2019. A total of $1,000,000
has been collected to date. While these funds are being used for other enhancement purposes
(landscaping), none are being used toward this project.

•  Public/Private Partnerships are noted throughout, but with little committed funding coming from
each.

•  Wayfinding funding has been received by Laramie Main Street Alliance through the Wyoming Main
Street Program - $22,950 in 2017 for the 2018 Main Street Wayfinding Plan; and $25,000 in 2018
for Wayfinding signage (no funds have been drawn yet).

Staff suggests the community phase the project and work on enhancing wayfinding signage already in 
place by expanding upon it in critical areas first.

BRC amount 475,000$     
Cash Match 125,000$     
In-Kind Match 6,000$        
Total eligible project cost 606,000$     
BRC % of total eligible project costs 78%
Local % of total eligible project costs 22%

Non-Construction Costs
Architectural and Engineering fees 18,000$      
Other fees (Project Management In-kind City) 2,000$        

Site work 21,600$      
Demolition and removal (In-kind City) 500$           
  Electrical Upgrades 35,000$      
  Equipment costs (in-kind city) 3,500$        
Signage purchase & Installation 473,517$     
Contingencies (9%) 51,883$      
Total Uses 606,000$     

Sources

Uses

Construction Costs

B-13Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



TM 



Business Ready Community Grant and Loan Program

WASHAKIE COUNTY    
WASHAKIE COUNTY LIBRARY & 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PROJECT  

W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

Community Enhancement Project    
$500,000 Grant Request, $1,801,712 Cash 

Match, $539,425 In-Kind Match   
Staff Recommendation: Fund as Requested

Project Description
Washakie County requests $500,000 in Community Enhancement 
funding for renovations of the former Ace Hardware building to be 
used for the Washakie County Library, Worland-Ten Sleep Chamber 
of Commerce, and the Washakie Development Association (WDA), 
the local economic development organization. Space will be created 
in the new library for business incubation and entrepreneurial use 
and for workforce training. This will include, but not be limited to: 

• Conducting at least four workforce training classes per year

•  Creating three coworking spaces for support and incubation
of start-up businesses and entrepreneurs

• Entrepreneurial networking/mentoring events

The community has spent many years exploring the need for an 
expanded and modernized library space. The library faces limitations 
in patron services, parking, accessibility and structural conditions. In 
2007, county and other community leaders began studying options 
for either renovating the existing building or relocating the library 
and renovating another building. They determined that to truly 
address the community’s needs, a larger and more efficient space 
would be needed. 

The Worland Ten Sleep Chamber of Commerce also needs a new 
home. In 2015, the Chamber had to vacate its previous location on 
North 10th Street due to black mold, and it subsequently had to 
be demolished. The Chamber has since been housed in temporary 
locations that are neither very visible nor convenient for visitors or 
the business community. 

This project has enabled a domino effect of economic development 
projects throughout the downtown. When Shopko went out of 
business in town, an empty building was left that was located on the 
edge of the downtown area. This gave the local Ace Hardware store 
the ability to expand their operations and relocate to the old Shopko 
building. However, the owner of Ace Hardware was concerned 
about leaving another empty building in downtown Worland. 

B-15Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



The community took advantage of these opportunities by moving forward with their library project by 
proposing renovations to the Ace Hardware building to be used for the Washakie County Library and other 
economic/community development services. 

The proposed location of the new library will increase foot-traffic in downtown Worland, provide office 
and combined shared-space for both the Chamber and WDA. There will be space for smaller groups to use 
for meetings, space for workforce trainings and provide the local community a state-of-the-art library. The 
increased foot-traffic in downtown Worland will increase sales tax for local businesses and restaurants, 
retain and attract new employees and an increase in out-of-town visitors to the community. These figures 
will be tracked by the library in the number of visitors to the new facility, the Chamber via surveys from 
local businesses on sales figures, and WDA in trainings and services provided to businesses/entrepreneurs. 

Strategic Value Proposition 
In 2015, the Worland community undertook a collaborative process to develop its 2015 Grow Worland 
Community Comprehensive Plan, and one of the major themes identified in that process was the 
community’s prioritization of an active downtown. Emphasizing downtown as the “community core”, the 
plan prioritizes “attracting new mixed-use development, increasing foot traffic, increasing community 
interest and involvement, and restoring, revitalizing, and beautifying downtown Worland”. 

Additionally, the components of this project that align with the WBC Strategic Plan include: 

•  Invest in amenities like downtowns, connectivity and recreation that draw and retain knowledge,
creative and advanced manufacturing workforce

• Develop a culture of innovation that attracts transformative companies and people to Wyoming

Project Readiness 
The domino effect of this project shows the readiness of this project. The BRC Enhancement application is 
the final domino to fall into place to ensure the success of this larger economic development strategy. 

This project will also meet the following goals and objectives: 

• Renovation of an existing downtown 19,452 square-foot building;

•  Increase downtown activity – anticipated 50% increase in annual Chamber traffic, 50,000 expected
annual visitors to the library;

•  Encourage economic development and innovation in Worland by creating three coworking spaces
for support and incubation of start-up businesses and entrepreneurs; support 50 businesses
annually through coworking space and/or networking/mentoring with the Chamber and WDA;

•  Conduct four or more workforce training classes per year in conjunction with the WDA, Chamber,
North West Community College, or other community partners.

Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-16



Performance Measure Chart 

Description BRC
Cash In-Kind

Land -$  -$  525,625$  
Non-Construction Costs 22,092$      79,608$  13,800$  
Construction Costs 477,908$     1,722,104$            -$  
Total Project Cost 500,000$     1,801,712$            539,425$  

22%
Quantity

50

2,339,112$            

3

50%

50,000

4

??

19,452 sf

243 sf

510 sf

Proposed number of annual workforce training 
classes to be provided

Creation of four or more workforce training 
courses to be created in conjunction with the WDA, 
Chamber, NW College, and/or other community 
partners.

Jobs to be retained/jobs to be created

Washakie Co Library & Economic Development Enhancement Project
Project Budget Projected Grant Expenditure Schedule

Match Total

525,625$  
115,500$  

2,200,012$  
2,841,137$  

Percentage BRC of all cash:

Spaces created for support and incubation of start-
up businesses, entrepreneurs, etc.

Increase in Chamber Traffic Anticipated annual number of Chamber visitors.
Increase in downtown foot-traffic/library 
attendance

Annual library visitors, anticipated increase in 
dowtown foot traffic.

Increase in downtown foot traffic and library 
attendance will result in increased downtown 
shopping, increase in local restaraunts which will 
retain workers and create new positions.  These will 
be tracked through the Chamber, WDA and library 
in the number of visitors to the library and surveys 
conducted by the Chamber & WDA.

Project 
Infrastructure

Existing building square-feet Total building square-footage 

WDA space square-feet Office space, storage closet and common area on 
2nd floor.

Chamber space square-feet 210 sf office space on 2nd floor and 300 sf on main 
floor with bathroom.

Performance 
Measures

Measure Notes

Businesses to be assisted
Annually through coworking spaces and 
networking/mentoring srevices with the Chamber 
and Washakie Development Association (WDA).

Dollars leveraged (ratio)
1:4 + ratio of grant dollars to matching dollars: 
$500,000/$2,339,112.

Proposed Coworking Spaces Created 

B-17Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Funding Sources and Uses  
The local match for this project is 82% of 
total project costs. The community has raised 
over $1 million in private donations, and the 
remaining cash and in-kind matches are being 
funded by the WDA and Washakie County. 

Staff Recommendation 
Staff recommends funding as requested. 

BRC amount 500,000$     
Cash Match 1,801,712$  
In-Kind Match 539,425$     
Total eligible project cost 2,841,137$  
BRC % of total eligible project costs 18%
Local % of total eligible project costs 82%

Property Acquisition Costs
Property Purchase (In-Kind Match) 525,625$     
Non-Construction Costs
Architectural and Engineering fees 112,300$     
Other fees (surveys, tests, etc.) 3,200$        

Demolition and removal 75,415$      
Building Components:
  Electrical Systems 312,785$     
  Mechanical, plumbing, HVAC systems 628,502$     
  Landscaping 5,000$        
  Foundation and/or Structural Framing system 148,364$     
  Interior Finishes 491,891$     
  Fire Protection 80,062$      
  General Conditions, Bonds & Insurance 283,791$     
Contingencies (8%) 174,202$     
Total Uses 2,841,137$  

Sources

Uses

Construction Costs

Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-18



Business Ready Community Grant and Loan Program

CITY OF EVANSTON/UINTA 
COUNTY (joint project)  
WYOMING STATE HOSPITAL 

REDEVELOPMENT PLAN    

W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

BRC Planning Project/Feasibility Study 
$25,000 (Evanston Request), $25,000 (Uinta 

County Request), $50,000 – EDA grant 
match (pending) 

Staff Recommendation: Fund as Requested

Project Description
The city of Evanston and Uinta County are requesting $25,000 each in 
BRC Planning funds to conduct a detailed architectural/engineering 
assessment and redevelopment plan for a portion of the existing 
historic Wyoming State Hospital (WSH) campus for various economic, 
educational, community and other development opportunities.  

The WSH campus is currently owned and used by the Wyoming 
Department of Health. Most of these buildings will be vacated 
in 2021 once the new WSH facility is completed. The Wyoming 
Department of Health does not have the funds to do any future 
studies or renovations to the campus and are poised to turn the 
property over to Evanston in the future.  

B-19Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



The WSH campus is approximately 100 acres consisting of 35 structures. This plan will specifically evaluate 
six to 10 structures on the eastern end of the WSH campus, which are most visible from the city of 
Evanston and Interstate 80 and possess the most potential for economic development reutilization. They 
are also the most aesthetic, dynamic and historically iconic buildings on the campus.  

The WSH has been a fundamental part of Evanston’s economy, employing between 400 and 500 healthcare 
professionals. While these jobs will continue at the new hospital facility, the specific six to 10 buildings will 
be vacated. The public benefits of this plan will be significant to the city as well as the region and state. 
The completed plan will provide valuable, concrete data about the viability of the designated structures 
and how they can be best preserved, razed and/or renovated for other business, educational or vocational 
opportunities. 

Economic Strategy 
A WSH task force spearheaded by the City of Evanston was created in 2019. This task force has examined 
several needs in the community based on public input at meetings and from the recent regional study that 
demonstrated the need for the following: 

•  Expansion of higher education and/or entrepreneurial programs. Evanston is the only city of its size
(appx. 12,000) without a community college. Evanston has been in conversations with WWCC about
having a campus in the city. This could attract students located in Utah to attend at this location, as
well as keep Evanston’s high school graduates in town as opposed to having them go outside of the
area and state for higher education.

•  Evanston has a growing retirement demographic and need for assisted living and/or senior housing.

•  Business recruitment/expansion. Evanston has a unique industry sector in manufacturing, clean
energy and healthcare, to name a few. Evanston also lacks available space of decent size for
business development and recruitment of similar industry types that would locate in the area. The
WSH campus could be developed to attract these businesses.

Based on these findings of the Task Force, this project aligns with the WBC Strategic Plan by helping to 
activate one of the new economic sectors identified (healthcare). 

Project Readiness 
Evanston was awarded funding for a U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Phase II Environmental Site 
Assessment that was conducted and completed in November for buildings #4, #5, #6, #7, #10, #11, #12 and 
#14, which are part of the six to 10 buildings identified in this planning grant request. The assessment 
did come back with identified levels of contaminants of concern (COC) in asbestos-containing materials, 
lead-based paint, polychlorinated biphenyl- containing equipment (florescent fixtures, etc.), mercury-
containing equipment and mold in the basement of building #4. All of these will need to be assessed and 
remediated by an accredited remediation company prior to any demolition and/or renovations made to 
these structures. 

Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-20



Funding Sources and Uses

Evanston: 

Uinta County: 

Staff Recommendation 
Staff recommends funding as requested for both requests. This is an opportunity for Evanston and Uinta 
County that is time sensitive and beneficial for future development efforts.

BRC amount 25,000$      
Cash Match - EDA Grant pending 50,000$      
Grant Match - Evanston request 25,000$      
Total eligible project cost 100,000$     
BRC % of total eligible project costs 25%
Local % of total eligible project costs 75%

Consultant Costs
Planning/Consultant fees 100,000$     
Total Uses 100,000$     

Uses

Sources

BRC amount 25,000$      
Cash Match - EDA Grant pending 50,000$      
Grant Match - Uinta County request 25,000$      
Total eligible project cost 100,000$     
BRC % of total eligible project costs 25%
Local % of total eligible project costs 75%

Consultant Costs
Planning/Consultant fees 100,000$     
Total Uses 100,000$     

Sources

Uses

B-21Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



TM 



Business Ready Community Grant and Loan Program

TOWN OF MOORCROFT   
TOWN CENTER FEASIBILITY STUDY  

W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

BRC Planning Project/Feasibility Study 
$18,750 Grant Request, $6,250 Cash Match
Staff Recommendation: $43,750 for a more comprehensive 

economic and community development master plan

Project Description
The purpose of this grant request is to hire a consulting firm to prepare 
a feasibility study for the improvement and growth of the Moorcroft 
Town Center. The study will define potential economic growth 
opportunities, stimulate additional employment, prioritize cost-effective 
renovation projects, and identify other possible building uses with a 
focus on improving the community of Moorcroft and Crook County. 

The Moorcroft Town Center that previously served as an elementary 
school is approximately 58,000 square-feet, was constructed in late 
1920s and has had several additions and renovations done over time. 
The building did not meet the Crook County School District standards 
for the use of the school and was deeded to the town in 2010/2011.  

The facility is currently in use, but not to its fullest capacity. The 
town maintains the facility but does not receive enough funds 
through lease/rents to maintain the building long-term. Finding the 
needs for the community and utilizing this facility to fit these needs 
is important for the town and the future of this facility, otherwise 
it cannot be operated and maintained and could be demolished if 
future use and funding is not found. 

The building has space to rent for the day and/or weekend and does 
have some long-term tenants leasing space in it as well. These leases 
include: 

•  Teen Room space for at-risk junior-high and high-school
students for homework assistance, crafts and socializing

•  Weston County Region III Children’s Developmental Center/
pre-school

• A physical therapist office

• Election polling space

•  Local food pantry who utilizes the kitchen about three times
a month

B-23Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



• Moorcroft Senior Center – also uses the kitchen for meal prep

• Eastern Wyoming College Outreach Program

•  A non-profit entity, Starfish, which provides low- or no-cost second-hand clothing and household
items to community members

• Moorcroft High School Athletic and Youth Programs that rent the gym for practices and games

• Gym, kitchen, library and classroom space is rented by groups and individuals for various events

The existing “stage area” has been converted to a small gym with local memberships and is used by 
outlying communities and visitors. The building is also used as a community gathering space for meetings, 
town halls, funerals and more.  

The town completed a structural assessment study in 2014. Some of the findings included: 

• Upgrades to roofs and soffits

• Replacement or upgrades to windows

• Replacement of interior doors and frames with fire-rated doors and frames in portions of building

• Electrical upgrades

• Lighting upgrades to energy efficient lighting

• Site work – drainage upgrades on the east side of building

A workshop between the town and local electrical company focused on the growth of the building and 
its potential uses for the town. The town formed The Moorcroft Town Center committee and, along with 
community members, has talked about several opportunities and needs assistance with what is feasible for 
the building.  

The town seeks planning funds to determine economic and community needs and how this facility can 
meet these goals and become financially stable to operate and maintain in the future. 

Strategic Value Proposition 
The proposed feasibility study will help identify the potential of the building. Aspects of the WBC Strategic 
Plan that this Plan would correspond with include those that target business needs, community needs and 
educational/training uses.   

Business needs 
• create entrepreneurial space for start-ups

• set aside dedicated space for businesses to lease

Community needs 
• create an emergency shelter for the community and outlying areas

• utilize the existing library in the building for the County Library

• space for childcare center

Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-24



Educational/training use 
• increased space for outreach programs and business trainings

• after school programs

Project Readiness 
The Town of Moorcroft has held multiple community meetings to discuss the future for the Moorcroft 
Town Center. The group developed a mission statement at their January 16, 2018, meeting: 

“Make the Moorcroft Town Center self-sustaining by promoting economic and community growth in 
Moorcroft and the surrounding area; provide educational and recreational opportunities in Moorcroft and 
the surrounding area.” 

Community members were given the task of giving three ideas for the Moorcroft Town Center. Groups of 
three were then formed with one presenter and presented their ideas.  The top ideas ranged from: 

• Marketable business spaces

• Head Start

• Boys & Girls Club

• Thrift/consignment store

• Business/office spaces

• Room designated for parties and other events

• Designated library space

• Senior citizens space

• Teen room

• Community gym/workout facility

Funding Sources and Uses 
Grant request of $18,750 will be 
matched by $6,250 in cash from the 
Town of Moorcroft.

BRC amount 18,750$      
Cash Match 6,250$        
Total eligible project cost 25,000$      
BRC % of total eligible project costs 75%
Local % of total eligible project costs 25%

Consultant Costs
Planning/Consultant fees 25,000$      
Total Uses 25,000$      

Sources

Uses

B-25Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Staff Recommendation

Sources/Uses 
Staff recommends funding in the 
amount of $43,750 for the community 
to complete a more comprehensive 
Master Economic & Community 
Development Plan. This type of plan 
can provide the community with a 
comprehensive overview of their 
unique economy and identify strategies, 
programs and projects that can help 
grow their community. 

Staff further recommends that the cash 
match be reduced from 25% to 12.5%, 
which equals $6,250, for a total project 
cost of $50,000.

BRC amount 43,750$      
Cash Match 6,250$        
Total eligible project cost 50,000$      
BRC % of total eligible project costs 88%
Local % of total eligible project costs 13%

Consultant Costs
Planning/Consultant fees 50,000$      
Total Uses 50,000$      

Sources

Uses

Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-26



Business Ready Community Grant and Loan Program

TOWN OF PINE BLUFFS  
ASSISTED LIVING FEASIBILITY STUDY 

W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

BRC Planning Project/Feasibility Study 
$18,750 Grant Request, $6,250 Cash Match
Staff Recommendation: $43,750 for a more comprehensive 

economic and community development master plan

Project Description
The Town of Pine Bluffs requests $18,750 in BRC Planning funds 
to conduct the feasibility of an assisted living facility on three 
properties identified by the town. The proposed study will conduct 
comprehensive research and review data to include the community’s 
economic indicators, competitive senior assisted living availability, 
and facility demand generators. The study will also conduct the 
research as a macro and micro market analysis of Pine Bluffs and the 
surrounding areas to determine the viability to support development 
potential. 

Pine Bluff’s population as of 2017 was approximately 1,177. The 
median age was 40.5, and the percentage of age demographics were 
more than 50% of the population ages 18 – 64; and less than 20% 
of the population ages 65 or over. Not considered in the population 
were the outlying areas of Burns, Albin, and Carpenter. 

B-27Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



The Town of Pine Bluffs completed the North Wells Land Use Study in November 2018. This study identified 
potential land uses of a parcel of agricultural land the town purchased to determine future uses. The town 
has already begun working on recommendations from the study in completion of a northwest water loop 
to serve this property, planning stages for sewer infrastructure and working with WYDOT and UPRR for 
relocation of the current railroad crossing into the site.  

A large portion of the property has been identified for residential use, multi-family dwellings and potential 
senior housing along with other commercial and industrial potential. 

Strategic Value Proposition 
There is potential for this project to “help existing knowledge, creative and advanced manufacturing 
businesses expand,” one of the items identified in the WBC Strategic Plan.  Healthcare has been identified 
as one of the State’s new economic sectors, and this plan would help determine the feasibility of an 
assisted living facility.  

Project Readiness 
Pine Bluffs has had success with past BRC projects including the Pine Bluffs Main Street Building; Pine Bluffs 
Business Park; Veteran’s Memorial Park; Pine Bluffs Medical Clinic (funded through Laramie County as a 
Community Readiness project); and the start-up of Pine Bluffs Distillery in the North Wells land site (funded 
through Laramie County as a Business Committed grant and loan).   

However, the Town’s Master Community Development Plan is outdated, and while the town has been 
working on updates, there is no current plan that identifies assisted living as a top priority for the 
community.  

Funding Sources and Uses  

Sources/Uses Original Request: 

BRC amount 18,750$      
Cash Match 6,250$        
Total eligible project cost 25,000$      
BRC % of total eligible project costs 75%
Local % of total eligible project costs 25%

Consultant Costs
Planning/Consultant fees 25,000$      
Total Uses 25,000$      

Sources

Uses

Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-28



Staff Recommendation 

Sources/Uses Staff  
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends funding in the amount 
of $43,750 for the community to complete 
a more comprehensive Master Economic 
& Community Development Plan. This type 
of plan can provide the community with 
a comprehensive overview of its unique 
economy and identify strategies, programs 
and projects that can help grow their 
community. 

Staff further recommends that the cash 
match be reduced from 25% to 12.5%, 
which equals $6,250, for a total project cost 
of $50,000. 

BRC amount 43,750$      
Cash Match 6,250$        
Total eligible project cost 50,000$      
BRC % of total eligible project costs 88%
Local % of total eligible project costs 13%

Consultant Costs
Planning/Consultant fees 50,000$      
Total Uses 50,000$      

Sources

Uses

B-29Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



TM 



Addendum
Correspondence

 TOPIC PAGE

Letters of public input are in the following order:

Town of Saratoga                              B-32–68

City of Laramie                                  B-69–73

Washakie County                               B-74–86

City or Evanston/Uinta County                B-87–90

B-31Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-32



B-33Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-34



B-35Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-36



B-37Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-38



B-39Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-40



B-41Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-42



B-43Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-44



B-45Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-46



B-47Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-48



B-49Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-50



B-51Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-52



B-53Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-54



B-55Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-56



B-57Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-58



B-59Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-60



B-61Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-62



B-63Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-64



B-65Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-66



B-67Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-68



Jan. 15, 2020

Attn. Wyoming Business Council, c/o the City of Laramie 
Re: Wayfinding Fabrication, WBC Community Enhancement Grant

Laramie Main Street is pleased to be part of this community wide, collaborative
effort to transform the look and feel of the downtown district, our entryways, and
the Third Street and Grand Avenue corridors. Working with our partners, we will 
provide both financial and technical support for wayfinding fabrication, overhead 
signage, and entryway signs. We believe these amenities will improve the
aesthetic character of our community. The need for directional and gateway 
signage is clearly documented in our 2012 Downtown Development Plan, 2016 
Third Street Enhancement plan, and 2018 Wayfinding plan. 

We believe this project will help make the community more attractive for 
business development, help with recruitment and retention efforts, and provide a 
quality experiences for visitors. 

With a desire to be a good partner on this project, we are pledging a $45,000
cash contribution towards fabrication costs. $10,000 our funds are from our 
annual Brew Fest. $10,000 is from a grant we received from the Guthrie Family 
Foundation, and $25,000 is from a Technical Assistance grant from Wyoming 
Main Street. 

In addition, with the help of Wyoming Main Street, we spent $22,950 toward the 
creation of the 2018 Wayfinding plan.

In closing, we are excited to support this project that creates shared community 
branding, serves as a collaborative win for our community, reduces sign clutter, 
improves the visitor experience, and increases visitor awareness of the amenities 
available in Albany County. 

Thank you for your time and consideration in reviewing this request. 

Trey Sherwood, Director
Laramie Main Street Alliance
115 Ivinson Avenue, Laramie, WY 82070
307-760-3355 or downtownlaramie@gmail.com

B-69Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-70



February 21, 2020 

Wyoming Business Council, c/o the City of Laramie 
Re: Wayfinding Fabrication, WBC Community Enhancement Grant 

Recently, the Albany County Tourism Board learned of this available grant opportunity to help support the 
improvement of our community through the community-wide use of wayfinding signs and four overhead street 
banners at key intersections in town. This is an initiative led largely by Laramie Main Street with support from 
many other stakeholders, and we as the local tourism board and convention and visitor’s bureau would like to 
offer our support of this initiative and grant opportunity. 

The wayfinding signs project would foster collaboration with many local entities, and it would enhance the visitor 
experience when visiting our destination. The overhead street banners would provide a welcoming experience at 
some of the main entry points to the heart of our downtown community, and they would allow us to promote 
more visibly ongoing events as well as special events coming to town for a weekend at a time. We as the local CVB 
could also offer this service to event planners as part of our grant request process. We also believe these projects 
would increase locals’ awareness of what there is to do in Laramie and the amenities that are available. We feel 
this project is a clear win for all involved in the community – locals, visitors, and businesses alike. 

The Albany County Tourism Board is prepared to come forward with a contribution to this project in the amount of 
$15,000.00 in support of both wayfinding signs and overhead street banners in order to do our part and to show 
our support for this great community and a project that benefits all.  

We appreciate the opportunity to be considered for this grant and wish to express our support for this grant 
application. 

Sincerely, 

Scott Larson 
Executive Director, Visit Laramie / Albany County Tourism Board 

B-71Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-72



B-73Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-74



B-75Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-76



B-77Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-78



B-79Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-80



B-81Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-82



B-83Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-84



B-85Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-86



B-87Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-88



B-89Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020



Community Grant and Loan Committee   -  May 2020B-90



1111C-1Personnel, Budget, and Audit Committee   - May 2020

PERSONNEL, BUDGET AND  
AUDIT COMMITTEE

SECTION C

May 7, 2020  .  Online, Wyoming





3333C-3Personnel, Budget, and Audit Committee   - May 2020

May 7, 2020

Personnel:
C-4 Personnel Report and Organizational Charts

C-7 Memo regarding Amendment to WBC Policy  
Manual Chapter 1

Financial:
C-8 Financial Update

AGENDA ITEMS



4444
Personnel, Budget, and Audit Committee   -  May 2020C-4  

Personnel Report 
April 24, 2020 
 
 
Farewells: 
 None 
  
New Hires & New Roles: 
 Justin Mabie, Business Finance Analyst – March 2020 
 Jill Tregemba, Agribusiness Development Manager – March 2020 
 Bert Adam, Entrepreneurial Services Manager – March 2020 
 John Wendling, Grants Project Manager – March 2020 
   

Total Salary & Benefits Biennial Budget: $9.73M 
Total Positions: 45 
Filled Positions: 38 
 Vacancies Restructured Option Status 
 Research Program 

Manager (Jackie 
Westhusing) 

Advanced Manufacturing 
Manager 

Pending Pre-
COVID. Hiring 
freeze; will not fill. 

 Entrepreneurial Services 
Coordinator (Vivian 
Georgalas) 

Professional Services 
Manager 

Pending Pre-
COVID. Hiring 
freeze; will not fill.  

 Market Development 
Manager (Will Hardin) 

Entrepreneurial Services 
Coordinator 

Pending Pre-
COVID. Hiring 
freeze; will not fill. 

 BRC/CDBG Project 
Manager (Brayden 
Connour) 

Community Development 
Coordinator 

Pending Pre-
COVID. Hiring 
freeze; will not fill. 

 Videographer (Andy 
Greenman) 

Evaluating Pending Pre-
COVID. Hiring 
freeze; will not fill. 

 Administrative Assistant 
(Ashley Cannon) 

Evaluating Pending Pre-
COVID. Hiring 
freeze; will not fill. 

 Data Project Coordinator 
(Kayla Kler) 

Evaluating Pending Pre-
COVID. Hiring 
freeze; will not fill. 

 



5555C-5Personnel, Budget, and Audit Committee   - May 2020



6666
Personnel, Budget, and Audit Committee   -  May 2020C-6



7777C-7Personnel, Budget, and Audit Committee   - May 2020

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:   Wyoming Business Council Board of Directors 
  Mr. Mike Easley, Co-Chairman 
 
FROM:   Amy L. Grenfell, Chief Operating Officer 

Warren R. Appel, Agency Services Manager 
 

DATE:   April 30, 2020 
 
RE:   Recommended Amendment to WBC Policy Manual Chapter 1 – Introduction 
 

Mr. Easley and Board Members, 

Be it adopted by the Wyoming Business Council Board of Directors, the Policy Approval and Update 
Process outlined in the WBC Policy Manual, Chapter 1, Section 11.1 shall be amended to read as follows: 

 “11.1 Policy Approval Procedure 

(1)  Policy modifications or updates and new policies will be drafted by the 
appropriate employee; then 

(2) Draft is reviewed by the Division Director and submitted to the Chief Officers 
and other Division Directors for discussion, revision, and approval; then 

(3) Final draft is submitted to the Personnel, Budget and Audit Standing Committee 
of the Board of Directors for review, discussion, and adoption.” 



Learn more about Wyoming Business Council Financials at wyomingbusiness.org/boardbook.

FY2020 Balances

Learn more about Wyoming Business 
Council Financials at wyomingbusiness.
org/boardbook.

 W Y O M I N G  B U S I N E S S  C O U N C I L

Financial Update
BUDGET SUMMARY - ALL FUNDS  (BFY 19/20 appropriation)

Net Balance

Economic Disaster loans  $8,493,288

Bridge loans   $1,963,356

Mainstreet loans   $665

Amendment IV loans  $23,221

Natural Gas 
Infrastructure loans   $213,866

WyoTech loan $4,900,000

BRC loans  $7,451,473

ARRA SEP loans $613,897

Unallocated allowance ($90,770)

TOTAL $23,568,996

Loans Receivable
Balances as of 3/31/20

FY 2020- year to date for the period:  07/01/19 -3/31/2020 OPTIMUM >>> 75%

PROGRAM BUDGET SUMMARY  BUDGETED  EXPENDED   ENCUMBERED  BALANCE 
% EXPENDED & 
ENCUMBERED 

/BUDGETED

General Funds 

Business Development $4,019,790 $2,433,594 $1,382,651 $203,545 95%

Strategic Initiatives $166,196 $34,781 $127,560 $3,855 98%

Regional Offices $109,281 $64,656 $0 $44,625 59%

Community Development $377,802 $38,150 $11,940 $327,712 13%

Business Ready Communities $48,631,703 $8,305,236 $30,812,469 $9,513,998 80%

Main Street $288,453 $107,228 $90,113 $91,112 68%

Executive & Board of Directors $216,484 $69,222 $0 $147,262 32%

    Agency Services $404,914 $263,134 $40,922 $100,858 75%

    Accounting $52,140 $45,572 $0 $6,568 87%

    Electronic Services $139,266 $97,258 $5,414 $36,594 74%

    Human Resources $4,940,771 $2,823,598 $0 $2,117,173 57%

    Communications & Marketing $78,450 $47,864 $10,788 $19,798 75%

    Women's Council $36,735 $20,420 $0 $16,315 56%

$59,461,984 $14,350,713 $32,481,857 $12,629,414 79%

Federal Funds 

Brownfield Revolving Loan 
Program

$800,000 $0 $0 $800,000 0%

CDBG Program $4,177,879 $678,231 $1,013,297 $2,486,351 40%

Specialty Crop Block Grant $21,750 $0 $21,450 $300 99%

State Energy 
Repurposed ARRA Funds

$423,259 $134,405 $80,757 $208,097 51%

State Energy 
Conservation Program

$355,564 $114,845 $222,922 $17,797 95%

State Trade and Export 
Program (STEP)

$33,110 $33,110 $0 $0 100%

$5,811,563 $960,591 $1,338,426 $3,512,546 40%

Primary Agency Funds  (See Terms on back for descriptions)

Economic Loan Development 
(fund 039/089)* $33,426,176 $4,896,639 $653,960 $27,875,577 17%

Wyoming Business Council 
(fund 085)

$45,425 $28,486 $0 $16,939 63%

Rural Rehabilitation (fund 499) $173,209 $82,579 $59,858 $30,772 82%

Broadband (fund 749) $3,000,000 $0 $0 $3,000,000 0%

$36,644,810 $5,007,704 $713,818 $30,923,288 16%

TOTAL $101,918,357 $20,319,008 $34,534,101 $47,065,248 54%

Governor’s 
Office Funds = 
$3,783,778
Petroleum  
Violation Escrows

Lyndsay Orr, CPA
Accounting Manager
lyndsay.orr@wyo.gov  |  307.777.2849

Avail. Cash Balance Year-to-date Receipts

  $5,411,305  $1,137,166

 $208,780  $14,186

 $4,570,492  $23,987

*  $25 million reserved for Large Loan Enterprise 
Fund, not included in Available Cash Balance.



BUDGETED EXPENDITURES BY FUNDING SOURCE

LINE ITEM EXPENDITURE SUMMARY

TERMS
Budgeted  -  Year one of two in the biennium budget

Encumbered  -  Funds are committed for a specific purpose

Expended -  Funds have been spent

Federal Fund -  Department of Energy, Housing and Urban Development,  
             Small Business Administration, Environmental Protection Agency

General Fund -  Appropriated by the Wyoming Legislature on a biennium budget

Agency Funds -  Special revenue funds that carry forward year to year 

  039 Challenge Loan - Economic Development Loans

 085 Shared with Tourism - Selling Wyoming First Program and  

  Tourism sales

 499 Rural Rehab - Farm Home Administration Funding for  

  rural development

 749  Broadband - Transferred from Governor's Office ENDOW 

Fund for remainder 19/20 Biennium

LOANS
ARRA SEP loans -  for energy efficiency projects

BRC Loans -  from BRC to a public entity

Amendment IV Loans  - Pre-Challenge Loan Program

Bridge Loans  - Participation w/ bank 

Economic Development Loans  -  for industry disasters (excl. natural disasters)

Main Street Loans  - Participation w/ bank

Natural Gas Infrastructure  -  for Natural Gas Fueling Stations

Learn more about Wyoming Business 
Council Financials at wyomingbusiness.
org/boardbook.

Lyndsay Orr, CPA
Accounting Manager
lyndsay.orr@wyo.gov  |  307.777.2849

5%

1% 0%

38%
51%

5%

Budgeted Expenditures by Funding Source

  Personnel Expenses

  Support services

  Central data services

  Grants

  Non-operating expenses
(Loans)

  Professional services

  Personnel
Expenses

  Support
services

  Central data
services   Grants

  Non-
operating
expenses
(Loans)

  Professional
services

Balance $2,164,457 $249,955 $25,115 $8,271,105 $35,592,885 $761,731
Budget Used to Date $2,866,709 $853,506 $46,387 $30,940,412 $15,922,898 $4,223,197

$2,866,709 $853,506 $46,387 $30,940,412 $15,922,898 $4,223,197 

$2,164,457 $249,955 $25,115 $8,271,105 $35,592,885 $761,731 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Line Item Expenditure Summary



10101010
Personnel, Budget, and Audit Committee   -  May 2020C-10



D-1Advisory Board and Regional Director Updates  -  May 2020

ADVISORY BOARD AND  
REGIONAL DIRECTOR UPDATES

SECTION D

May 7, 2020  .  Online, Wyoming





D-3Advisory Board and Regional Director Updates  -  May 2020

May 7, 2020

Advisory Board and Regional Director Updates:

D–5 Regional Directors

D–11 Broadband

D–13 Wyoming Main Street

D–16 Wyoming Council for Women (WCW)

AGENDA ITEMS





D-5Advisory Board and Regional Director Updates  -  May 2020

 The past two months has found the Regional Director team, like so many others, getting familiar with a 
new way to get work done. Throughout the months of March and April we have helped to coordinate 
county and regional efforts to keep partners in communication with one another, worked with our SBDC 
and SBA colleagues to help businesses around the state access emergency federal assistance funds, and 
worked with WBC staff on initiatives and services to be sure that we are recognizing the needs of 
communities across the state. We are seeing innovative collaboration throughout the state as we look 
to the future recovery efforts post-COVID-19. 

And, while it looks a little different now, a lot of the “normal” work that we do is still ongoing. 
Discussions about community and business development opportunities, capacity building, and work 
with various economic development partners to continue to address the ongoing opportunities for 
economic growth is happening daily.  

 

Northwest: Amy Quick (Big Horn, Hot Springs, Park, Washakie) 

Big Horn County: 

• The Town of Lovell and Lovell Inc are working with a private developer on a project that could 
have significant impact in the area. For the developer to proceed, sewer and water 
infrastructure needs to be expanded to his property and the town and EDO are investigating 
various options to make that expansion possible. 

• Due to COVID-19, the Greybull Community Review scheduled in mid-April was postponed and 
community organizers and WBC staff are looking at new dates to conduct the review later this 
year. 

• The Town of Greybull is preparing to start work on Phase II of their business park as Phase I of 
the BRC-funded park is more than 80% full and demand continues to grow for space. 

 

Hot Springs County: 

• Main Street Thermopolis was selected to participate in the National Main Street 
Center/National Park Service Façade Grant Program, and they already have several businesses 
and building owners interested in this opportunity which will launch later this spring/summer. 

Park County:  

• Construction on Gunwerks’ new building is in the punch list stage and they are hoping for 
completion and move in by mid-May. 

• Forward Cody is working with EDA on a number of projects, including seeking funding on behalf 
of Wyoming Legacy Meats to expand its slaughter facility, emergency funds to provide COVID-
related small business loans through a Park County Revolving Loan Fund, and funding for 
Wyoming National Labs which hopes to build a large office/laboratory space in Cody. Forward 
Cody is also hoping to come to the WBC soon for the Wyoming National Labs project. 

• The Powell Hotel/Convention Center project that was funded in September 2018 is getting back 
on track and architects are working on the details to make the visitor experience unique and 



memorable. The selected Construction Manager gave an update on the CMAR process and their 
maximum price guarantee. At this point, the size of the parking lot and the footprint of the 
conference center are known and groundbreaking for the hotel is planned for late summer. The 
City of Powell has received and are reviewing the plat for the project and bid packets for the 
conference center are in progress. 

• PEP/Powell Chamber/Powell Visitor Center is working with local attractions and activities on 
conference packages in preparation for the new hotel and event space. PEP’s new Community 
Relations & Tourism Manager starts May 4th; their new hire has great hospitality and events 
experience and will be a tremendous asset to Powell as they ramp up convention bookings.  

Washakie County: 

• A new, larger Kennedy Ace store is open in the old Shopko building and excitement is building 
for Washakie County to renovate the old ACE for a new library downtown. The county is coming 
before the board today to request a Community Enhancement Grant for this project. 

• Washakie Development Association is using the Tuesday Community Connections live radio 
broadcast to keep the public informed on the latest information on COVID 19, providing ever-
changing information to members, lenders and small businesses. 

 

Northeast: Brandi Harlow (Campbell, Crook, Johnson, Sheridan, Weston) 

• The Northeast Region took the lead on facilitating the volunteer 3D-printed Personal Protective 
Equipment efforts. The Wyoming Technology Coronavirus Coalition and WyoMakers 
approached the WBC about potential funding for materials for making PPE in early April.   

During the past month, working closely with Manufacturing Works, we assisted in developing a 
process with the Wyoming Office of Homeland Security and County Emergency Coordinators to 
determine needs, place orders and accept the delivery of PPE.  At the same time, I coordinated 
the City of Sheridan CDBG application for $48,000 and the Wyoming Community Foundation 
donation of $17,500 to assist with the cost of materials. 

• Developed the Northeast Regional Partnership group with economic developers, chambers and 
main street leaders in Northeast Wyoming. The group meets virtually on a weekly basis to share 
information and best practices.  

Powder River Basin: 

• Northeast Wyoming’s economy has been hit especially hard during the last few months. In 
addition to the significant impacts to small businesses from coronavirus, the minerals extraction 
industry has been devastated. Over 400 coal miners have been laid off and nearly all oil and gas 
drilling has halted.  

Sheridan County: 

• The Kennon Expansion project is moving forward and will break ground in early May. 
• Vacutech was unable to move forward with their expansion plans and did not sign the Business 

Committed loan agreement with Sheridan Educational and Economic Development Authority. 
SEEDA’s Attorney is in negotiations with Vacutech for expenses on the project.   



D-7Advisory Board and Regional Director Updates  -  May 2020

 

 

 

Western: Elaina Zempel (Lincoln, Sublette, Teton, Uinta) 

Lincoln County: 
 

• EDA Grant to City of Kemmerer: 

City of Kemmerer continues to work with GLS, Global Location Strategies, from South Carolina, 
on a Diversification Study to determine additional markets, value-added products and 
alternative uses for current Naughton Power Plant and Kemmerer Operations, LLC coal mine.  

The local Committee with representatives of the mine, power plant, Exxon, City and County, 
meet on a regular basis and will begin the process of hiring an Impact Manager to move some of 
the ideas in the Diversification Study, forward. 

• Alpine has seen some of its growth curtailed by COVID-19 fall-out and several businesses, who 
had obtained construction permits, have delayed their capital construction projects. It is 
anticipated that this is a temporary trend. 

Sublette County: 

• Pinedale is finishing open projects including the Recreational Use Project that includes dump & 
fill station and electrical extensions. Pinedale has also issued a Request for Information to solicit 
ideas for the property located on the main thoroughfare vacated by the former Town Hall.  

Uinta County: 

• City of Evanston has seen a variety of interest in its available commercial buildings and 
properties in their business park. Evanston lies mostly within an Opportunity Zone, which is 
causing some of the interest in the area.  

 

East Central: Kim Rightmer (Converse, Natrona, Niobrara, Platte) 

Natrona County: 

• In 2014, the Natrona County Economic Development Joint Powers Board was awarded a 
$968,486 Business Readiness grant to construct a 30,000 square foot spec building. The building 
was built on a 5-acre site in the Bar Nunn Industrial Center located on the north edge of Bar 
Nunn. Although a very generic building, it was constructed specifically to be finished to 
accommodate a manufacturing firm. Ownership of the building was transferred to Advance 
Casper (formerly CAEDA) to market to potential manufacturers. 

Advance Casper sold the building in March. It will house a local company that has been 
operating in Natrona County for more than 50 years. Capital improvements are estimated to be 
about $2 million and work will be done by a local construction company. The new facility will be 



8888 Advisory Board and Regional Director Updates   -  May 2020D-8

state of the art and will allow the company to expand their product line. They currently employ 
10 skilled workers and plan to triple that number in the next few years. 

Advance Casper plans to make a more detailed formal announcement regarding this project 
soon. 

• The Federal Aviation Administration has proposed to temporarily adjust the operating hours of 
around 100 airport control towers across the nation due to COVID-19 safety concerns and a 
noticeable reduction in traffic. Casper/Natrona County International Airport is on that list. 
Current operations are from 5 a.m. to 9 p.m. The FAA has proposed new operations to be from 
12 p.m. to 8 p.m. to continue to keep staff safe during the pandemic. 

This has caused concern in the local aeronautics community, who fear the reductions could 
potentially create a safety hazard and lead to a permanently reduced level of service at the 
airport over the long term. To date, the airport has experienced approximately 40% percent 
decline in traffic. However, it has been able to retain most of its employees – only having to 
furlough two. 

• The Town of Mills continues to work closely with six Wyoming distillers who are manufacturing 
hand sanitizer from ingredients purchased with funds from the CDBG grant awarded on April 7. 
Backwards Distilling is acting as the point distiller for the project and is ensuring purchases fall 
within the parameters of the grant contract. To date, approximately 300 gallons of product have 
been delivered to county emergency services around the state – who in turn have distributed it 
to first line medical and emergency providers and other essential workers. 

 

Southeast: Heather Tupper (Albany, Carbon, Goshen, Laramie) 

Albany County: 

• Laramie Mainstreet continues to identify ways to help support businesses through online and 
social media promotion as well as virtual meetings with downtown businesses to help address 
ongoing concerns and questions. They have been recognized by the National Mainstreet Center 
for their business support strategies and targeted communication efforts. 

o Some efforts include: a storytelling guide to help business learn how to market 
themselves online, a virtual shopping guide, and an online marketplace selling gift 
certificates for businesses that don’t have a platform to do so on their own. 

Goshen County: 

• Construction on the $8.4million assisted living facility, Evergreen Plaza, began in March. 
Approximately $6 million of that project budget is staying local with contractors and materials 
coming from within the state. 

• In April, Goshen County Economic Development granted $26,500 to 47 small businesses 
throughout Goshen County for COVID relief. These grants were funded through their Progress 
Program which is supported by the ¼ cent sales tax that Goshen County collects for Economic 
Development. 



D-9Advisory Board and Regional Director Updates  -  May 2020

Laramie County:  

• New leaders are now in place for Cheyenne LEADS (Betsey Hale started earlier this month), Visit 
Cheyenne and the Cheyenne DDA.  

• The DDA awarded 27 COVID-19 Emergency Assistance grants to downtown businesses. The 
businesses that received the grant funding employ 179 workers within the Cheyenne 
community, and have a combined annual revenue of $8,216,509.41. Based on the annual sales 
revenue, these 27 businesses alone generate approximately $492,990 in sales tax revenue per 
year. 

• Partners in Cheyenne are working together to support various relief and promotion efforts. Over 
the past couple of weeks, we have seen the community rally behind efforts to support small 
business throughout the county. 
 

South Central: Marcio Paes-Barreto (Fremont, Sweetwater and Wind River Reservation) 

COVID-19 Initial Response - First Week of March 
• Clarified the seriousness of the situation and detailed the potential economic disruption of the 

pandemic to stakeholders, partners and coworkers. 
- Internally - created a team folder with COVID-19 resources from McKinsey, Bain, BCG, 

and Goldman Sachs 
- Externally - introduced the idea that the pandemic could lead to a recession or, in the 

worst case, a depression 
• Organized weekly stakeholders and partners' meetings / listening sessions. 

- Rock Springs / Green River 
- Riverton / Lander 
- Wind River Reservation 
- Elected Officials (county-level up) 

 
Crisis Response - Resilience building and Financial Assistance - Most of March 

• Using stakeholders and partners' meetings: 
- Shared the importance of focusing on business fundamentals, financial resiliency and 

remaining flexible. 
- Supported businesses and partners navigating the first stages of SBA disaster loans.  
- Shared business and loan resources (examples: State taskforces and Wyoming Business 

Council sites and other SBA / SDBC resources) 
- Shared leadership and risk management concepts to deal with Adversity and 

Uncertainty 
 

• Hand Sanitizer Project - supported Wyoming Distillers and Regional Director Kim Rightmer to 
create operational systems, estimate demand, and capacity, and establish communication with 
Homeland security and County Emergency teams. 

 
Economic downturn - Making Sense and Long-Term Perspective - First weeks of April 

• Continued to support the crisis response of different businesses and stakeholders 
• Enhanced relationship with elected officials and connected them with Josh Keefe regarding 

potential use of disaster and challenge loans at the state level 



10101010 Advisory Board and Regional Director Updates   -  May 2020D-10

• Collaborated with Josh Dorrell and Sarah Fitz-Gerald on topics related to COVID-19 
• Focused the stakeholders and partners' meetings on these topics: What is next, New business 

paradigms and long-term resiliency 
• Continued to provide a large economic perspective during all interactions 

 
Next Steps - Current week and May  

• Develop / update economic development plans for post-COVID-19 - Sweetwater, Fremont and 
Wind River Reservation 

• Re-engage with local initiatives, collaboratives or projects 
- Rock Springs and Green River - Target Industry study, business recruitment, and 

revitalization projects 
- Riverton and Lander - Outdoor Recreation collaborative, business recruitment, CWC Ag 

project, and Healthcare initiatives 
- Wind River Reservation - Broadband, Datacenter, and Food security projects 
- Dubois - Revitalization projects and Outdoor Recreation collaborative 
- Hudson - Community Development 
- Superior - Community Development 
- Shoshoni - Revitalization projects 



D-11Advisory Board and Regional Director Updates  -  May 2020

Broadband Advisory Board May 05 2020 

Broadband Advisory Council Update 

 
Grant Program 

Program Relaunch – working toward relaunch later in May.  

RFP - Update to RFP documentation, providing applicants with a guideline for requesting information 
from potential providers responding to a county’s identified needs. Information gathered from the RFP 
response can be directly utilized in grant application documentation. 

Scoring outline – Assembled scoring guidelines included in the RFP, to be carried over into the grant 
assessment, with additional guidance and criteria 

Application materials – Current grant application materials will be revised to support relaunch. 

Existing applicants – have maintained communication with applicants, once all documentation is 
finalized, NATI and Albany County will be provided with documentation and guidance on how to bring 
their applications compliant for consideration. These two applications will be considered outside of the 
new application process. 

 

Mapping  

Provider Data – Teal continues formulation of a digital process that providers can utilize to bring their 
data to the state broadband mapping website. Silver Star has agreed to participate in the pilot program. 
Once the process is refined, it will be published to providers, along with a request to voluntarily participate 
and provide their data. Data will be divided into public/non-public presentation and security, as defined by 
the provider.  

NTIA – A contract with NTIA to form a collaboration with BroadBand NOW’s Congressional directive to 
develop a National Broadband Accessibility Map (NBAM). NBAM will serve to provide additional data to 
the federal efforts to support broadband deployment.  

UW GiSC – Continue building functionality of the Wyoming Broadband Map, including the Provider 
supplied GIS data pilot program. Teal Wyckoff, UW Research Scientist with the UW Geographic 
Information Service center and her staff are working on the interface that will allow Silver Star and our 
Wyoming providers to upload GIS information directly to the Broadband Website. With Teal’s work and 
Wyoming’s providers, we will continue to have a Broadband Mapping system second to none in the 
nation.  

Education – Technical education is important to develop today’s workforce. Telecommunications and 
broadband are no different. Initial conversations are happening around the development of a Fiber Optics 
certification program. Still in conversation stages, WWCC, LCCC and providers from around the region 
will continue to analyze the possibility. 

 

Federal Opportunities  

USDA – CARES Act placed additional funding for the Connect America Fund, and the Distance Learning 
Telehealth Fund. CAF applications are closed, with the DLT program taking applications until July 14. 

FCC – Work on RDOF continues, webinars are available and program guidance is published. If there is 
enough interest, we can arrange for a State RDOF Q&A session with the FCC, please contact me with 
your request. 

 



12121212 Advisory Board and Regional Director Updates   -  May 2020D-12

Broadband Advisory Board May 05 2020 

 

  

Digital Inclusion  

TeleHealth – Conversations continue with additional haste around telehealth, One recently identified 
barrier, lack of access to broadband has been identified. I have extreme interest in verifying the lack of 
access revealed by this claim.  

TeleEducation – Another topic amplified by covid-19, not only identifying issues in connectivity, but also 
devices, home service, etc.  

TeleCommuting – More of an economic development perspective, the latest events has presented 
several opportunities and changes in work environments that will only help this facet mature. 

 

#Broadband2030  

Tagline to outline short- and long-term developmental goals of the program, with specified targets for 
measurable results.  

Update Broadband Plan on Bi-Annual Basis 

Forward Reaching planning on 1-, 3-, 5-year basis, with 10-year program goals with milestones. 

Committee and Program outlines to align with WBC goals and objectives.  

 

Connected Nation – https://connectednation.org/  

Legislation allows for contractor support for the development and support of the Broadband Program 
passed in 2018. As more demand, and the requirement for deliberate and decisive action, it is proposed 
to review with the possibility of entering into contract with Connected Nation, Connected Nation has the 
ability to provide expertise in many of the areas Wyoming continues to struggle with when relating to 
Broadband.  

Considering the covid-19 epidemic and the unprecedented economic impact, time is of the essence for 
direction and understanding of how to best use any possible broadband funding that may become 
available. Connected Nation is uniquely poised to assist in the bolstering of the grant program, assisting 
with coverage verification, and bring lessons learned from experience in teleHealth, distance learning and 
digital inclusion initiatives supported in other areas around the nation. Please consider Connected Nation 
to Partner with the Wyoming Business Council to help push our objective forward.  

 

Action Items  

BBAC – motion for removal of Eric Rasmussen from Broadband Advisory Council for lack of 
communication and participation. Motion will be presented to Wyoming Business Council for 
consideration and action.  
 

BBAC – Agenda Addition – Consideration of entering into contract with Connected Nation for support of 
the Broadband Grant program; providing direct support for Wyo Stat. § 9-12-1509 (b)(I,ii,ivandv(A)). 



D-13Advisory Board and Regional Director Updates  -  May 2020

Wyoming Main Street Advisory Board 
 
The Wyoming Main Street Advisory Board is enthused to embark on an expanded relationship with the 
Wyoming Business Council Board and the Broadband Advisory Council. While each of our efforts have 
intersected and overlapped across the years, increased and purposeful collaboration to leverage the 
expertise and talents of our collective bodies will undoubtably enhance our impact on Wyoming.  
 
By way of introduction, the Main Street Advisory Board represents a wide cross-section of community 
and business perspectives. We include local government expertise with a planner and former mayor 
(Sherri Mullinnix), a city clerk (Marla Brown) and mayor (Roger Miller) to help us appreciate and 
understand how state activities impact local communities. We have a former Main Street Manager and 
current local program board member (Bruce Heimbuck) to enhance our focus on how our decisions 
impact the day-to-day activities of the boots-on-the-ground program managers. We have a retail store 
owner (Jim Davis) to remind us of the challenges and opportunities facing small business. And we have 
two planning and business consultants (Jennifer Ford and Matt Ashby) who work daily to help 
businesses and communities identify and implement their vision.  This roster of accomplished 
professionals helps to ensure that our actions are on-point and effective in advancing the success of the 
economic development epicenter in our state – Main Street, Wyoming.  
 
Despite the challenges of gathering in person, each member of the Main Street Advisory Board 
welcomes the opportunity to get to know the rest of the Business Council players better. During these 
uncertain and difficult times is when coming together can help us make the greatest impact.  
 
Our Mission 
In advancing our charge to support vitality on Main Street, the Advisory Board recently updated our 
mission statement and how we communicate the goals of our program. Here’s what drives our passion: 
 

Pioneers of Economic Development 
We are partners in economic development.  

Main Street appreciates the power of economic development, with a nationwide approach going back to 
the 1980s. Like true pioneers, we understand the importance of partnership.  
 

Character-Driven Economic Development 
We believe in the power of place. 

Our historic towns provide the backdrop of a unique and memorable experience. Main Streets are the 
lifeblood of the small-town charm that attracts visitors and invites them to imagine sinking roots in 
Wyoming. The power of place is an infrastructure that simply can’t be built – it must be cultivated by 
experiences.  
 

Grassroots Economy Building 
We empower local economic development. 

Economic development can be intimidating, with large and complex projects grabbing headlines. Yet 
Main Street thrives on shining the spotlight on small business, providing resources to the grassroots 
efforts that build commerce from the ground up.  
 
 



14141414 Advisory Board and Regional Director Updates   -  May 2020D-14

What does this mean to members of the Business Council? At its core, Main Street is economic 
development, our ROI is outstanding, and we’re treading new ground for generating business activity in 
Wyoming communities.  We believe that quality business investments thrive in quality places. Main 
Street supports character-driven economic development, establishing fertile ground for businesses who 
base their decisions on quality of life. Our programs help to support businesses at all levels, and Main 
Street is well-suited to creating an environment that supports upstarts. We help diversify the Business 
Council’s pursuits, while helping battle the perception that only the “big guys” get assistance. 
 
Recent Successes 
2019 represented a successful year for our Main Street communities, encompassing activities across 8 
Certified programs, 4 Affiliates, and 3 Aspiring communities across Wyoming. As part of our linkage with 
the nationwide network, our communities monitor the impact we have across the state. Here’s just a 
few of the biggies: 
 

• 185 Full-Time Jobs Created 
• 57 Net New Businesses Created 
• 196 Building Rehabilitation Projects Completed 
• 14 Public Improvement Projects Completed 
• 11 New Construction Projects Completed  
• $2,872,601 Public Investment   
• $22,917,538 Private Investment   

 
We were also honored to share in naming of Evanston Main Street as a Top 10 contender for the Great 
American Main Street Award. This is the highest honor bestowed by National Main Street recognizing 
sustained success and impact over time. While the final award announcement has been postponed, we 
are proud of the accomplishments of the Evanston team. If named a GAMSA winner, Evanston would 
join Rawlins and Rock Springs in achieving this significant milestone.  
 
Currently, our programs are on the front line of helping local business manage through the Covid-19 
challenges. Doing more with less has become a way of life on Main Street – and the current crisis is not 
only straining resources, but also spurring innovation. Here’s just a few highlights of the ways Main 
Street programs are making an impact: 
 

• Cheyenne hosted a Virtual Easter Egg Hunt using 3D real estate photography to offer tours of 
local businesses. The event generated “foot traffic” through local businesses and generated 
online sales. 

• Laramie hosted a Business Bingo, encouraging participants to support business in a variety of 
ways. Participants were entered into a gift card drawing.  

• Gillette is hosting a Virtual Live shopping event to showcase products, encouraging online 
purchases.  

 
As businesses emerge from a challenging Spring, we look forward to sharing more success stories 
highlighting the impact our local program managers are having in their communities.  
 
Moving Forward 
Key efforts Wyoming Main Street will be supporting in the coming year will likely be focused on recovery 
and reopening following the Covid-19 crisis. The following efforts are our top priorities: 



D-15Advisory Board and Regional Director Updates  -  May 2020

 
1. “Made on Main Street” –  While many people assume that manufacturing only takes place in 

business parks on the outskirts of town, there are products being made on Main Street. This 
effort seeks to support the current businesses who are manufacturing downtown, while 
identifying startups who might need to expand beyond their garage and grow into a larger 
space.  
 

2. “Shop Safe, Shop Smart” – As an outgrowth of the Shop Small Saturday that typically takes 
place in November, we’ve moved up and broadened the effort to encourage recovery spending 
at local businesses over the summer.  
 

3. “Impact Messaging Opportunity” – Our Main Street programs provide boots-on-the-ground 
economic development assistance across Wyoming. Yet the humble and collaborative culture of 
the program at times results in efforts making a quiet yet overlooked impact. This project seeks 
to help programs shine a light on their impacts to demonstrate ROI and help leverage funding and 
partnerships.  

 
4. “Business Assistance Opportunity” – Small businesses are facing unprecedented challenges and 

need support to streamline operations and reorient sales to help increase profitability. This 
targeted assistance will help owners understand current market dynamics and explore strategies 
to enhance their sustainability over time.  
 

5. “Main Street Façade Improvement Grant Program” – As one of four states recently named 
recipients of grant funds, Wyoming will be able to significantly expand the funds available for 
façade improvements in Laramie, Rock Springs, and Thermopolis. Funded by the National Park 
Service, these three communities will receive grants for façade improvements in their downtown 
districts. Each community is expected to award between two and nine grants of up to $25,000 
each. 
 

In closing, the Wyoming Main Street Board looks forward to providing support statewide to 
advance grassroots economy building, promoting place-based solutions to attract economic 
investment, while partnering to leverage resources to create a thriving and resilient Wyoming 
economy.   
 
Until we can connect again in person and on behalf of the entire Wyoming Main Street Advisory 
Board, we wish you good health and best wishes for a bright Wyoming economy. 
 
 
Matt Ashby 
Chairman, Wyoming Main Street Advisory Board 

 



16161616 Advisory Board and Regional Director Updates   -  May 2020D-16

 

 

About the Wyoming Council for Women 
The Wyoming Council for Women is a 14-member advisory council to the Wyoming Business Council. 
The Governor appoints Council members through the Boards and Councils Application process. By 
statute, they focus on the status of women in Wyoming with emphasis on Employment Practices, 
Educational Opportunities, Home and Community, and Legal Rights and Responsibilities.  

Recent Activity and Updates from the Wyoming Council for Women 
● Along with a rollout of a fresh new logo, in August the WCW board reorganized and updated 

committee structures to address pieces of the most recent strategic plan. 
● An amendment to HB0002 passed out of the legislative session requiring the Wyoming Council 

for Women to report to the joint minerals, business and economic development committee on 
their statutory obligations regarding the status of women in Wyoming. 

● The WCW is accepting applications for the Woman Entrepreneur Award, which recognizes an 
outstanding female entrepreneur who has been operating a business for more than three years. 
The deadline for applications is May 31st. The past two years of the award has seen a 
tremendous variety of businesses from across the state. 

● To align and maximize efforts across the state, the WCW is planning a summit that will bring 
together organizations who are working on issues that directly impact the women of Wyoming. 
Originally planned for late summer/fall, the WCW will assess later this month to determine next 
steps given the impacts of COVID-19. 

● The WCW was a primary sponsor on the 2020 Self-Sufficiency Calculator (https://wywf.org/self-
sufficiency-calculator/) that was released by the Wyoming Women’s Foundation in February. 
The Self-Sufficiency Calculator allows the user to input information for a specific situation to 
determine what the minimum hourly wage that would be needed to meet self-sufficiency 
standards. This calculator allows stakeholders in the state to determine the needs in particular 
counties based on regional needs. 


	Agenda and Minutes
	Agenda May 7
	Minutes March 5
	Minutes April 7
	Minutes April 28

	Section A: Business Contract and Loan
	Contents
	A–5 Quarterly Challenge Loan Report
	A–7 Annual Challenge Loan Report Memo
	A–8 Annual Challenge Loan Audit Report
	A-9 Response(s) to Challenge Loan Portfolio Exam
	A–16 Loan Portfolio as of December 31, 2019
	A–20 Annual SBIC Report
	A–25 University of Wyoming Business Resource Network
(BRN) Contract
	A–41 Amendment of Taiwan Trade Office Contract/Lease

	Section B: Community Grant and Loan
	Contents
	BRC Application and Financial Summary
	BRC Allocation Plan
	Saratoga Carbon County Impact JPB–
Southern Water & Sewer Extension
	City of Laramie–Wayfinding Signage
	Washakie County–Library & Economic
Development Project
	City of Evanston/Uinta County–WY State Hospital
Campus Assesment & Redevelopment Plan
	Town of Moorcroft–Moorcroft Town
Center Upgrade Study
	Town of Pine Bluffs–Senior Assisted Living Study
	Addendum
	Town of Saratoga
	City of Laramie
	Washakie County
	City or Evanston/Uinta County


	Section C: Personnel, Budget and Audit
	Contents
	C-4 Personnel Report and Organizational Charts
	C-7 Memo regarding Amendment to WBC Policy
Manual Chapter 1
	C-8 Financial Update

	Section D: Advisory Board and Regional Director
	Contents
	D–5 Regional Directors
	D–11 Broadband
	D–13 Wyoming Main Street
	D–16 Wyoming Council for Women (WCW)




